


Shaping Tomorrow

We live in the most exciting era of sporting development. 

A time when full contact sport no longer holds centre 

stage. It is a passage of time when the art of sport is 

appreciated over the physicality of competition. Today, 

latent skills and blossoming talent has a place amongst 

our youth and the generations to come. It is now the 

subtle brilliance of deftness, the art of touch, mastery of 

stroke and pure strategic guile that has turned cricket 

into the sport of the future.

Today cricket is the stage for mental agility and peak 

physical condition. It is purity of both mind and spirit 

that produces champions. The re-invention of cricket 

globally has rejuvenated a desire to master the ultimate 

game. A sense of camaraderie pursued by both men 

and women alike. It’s now a passion for gamesmanship, 

integrity, honesty and fair play. It is a game that can be 

embraced and played or supported by everyone. 

We can’t undo the past, but we can shape the future. 

We do what we do today in cricket, for what will happen 

TOMORROW.
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TEN THRUSTS TO DIRECT TRANSFORMATION OF CRICKET IN SOUTH AFRICA

ThrUSTS inTEnDED oUTComES

The Role of CSA CSA are the custodians of the sport and are responsible for the control and enhancement of 

human assets and strategic opportunities.

Democratisation This is the process through which human assets of the organisation is unlocked by allowing 

all legitimate stakeholders to be heard, encouraging local ownership and ensuring 

accountability and participation in all of its structures.

Redress and 

Representivity

CSA has a moral duty to ensure that cricket grows and flourishes amongst the disadvantaged 

who come from Black African communities. This involves a commitment to the development 

of potential amongst black African people at all levels of the game. This programme reaffirms 

its mission to bring cricket to all the people of South Africa and to facilitate a culture of 

nonracialism.

Constitution The Constitution of CSA should be a unifying force, reflecting the sentiments of a modern 

organisation, promoting sound governance, facilitating strategic guidance, encapsulating 

their executive powers and accountabilities and protecting codes of conduct.

Competitiveness 

and Revenue

To ensure the sustainability of cricket in South Africa through  

its ability to compete effectively in the entertainment and  

sport industry and to maintain and grow its market share.

Development This programme must assist in establishing cricket as a people’s  

game which integrates all communities into cricket activities,  

thereby contributing to the shaping of a future cricket culture.

Closing the Gap To bridge the existing gaps between Schools Cricket,  

Club Cricket, Provincial Cricket and International  

Cricket in order to minimise loss of human potential  

and optimise the return on Cricket, Human and  

Financial Investments.

Funding and 

distribution

To assist in supporting a financially and operationally

viable and stable affiliate/provincial base. This will be  

achieved by establishing a fair equitable policy for  

the distribution of funds that is accepted and  

supported by affiliates and rewards affiliates for  

their contribution to cricket.

Recording the full 

history of South

African Cricket

To acknowledge, record and respect  

Black Cricket during the past century  

in order to establish the rich and  

comprehensive history of South  

African Cricket, recognising diversity  

as a source of strength.

Accountability 

and monitoring

To establish a mechanism for the  

monitoring and implementation  

of the Transformation Charter and  

establish joint accountability  

among CSA and its affiliates during  

this process.
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ViSion anD miSSion

VISION
Cricket South Africa’s vision is to make cricket a truly national sport of winners.

This has two elements to it:

	 To ensure that cricket is supported by the majority of South Africans, and available to all who want to play it

	 To pursue excellence at all levels of the game

MISSION
As the governing body of cricket in South Africa, Cricket South Africa will be lead by:

	 Promoting and protecting the game and its unique spirit in the context of a democratic South Africa.

	 Basing our activities on fairness, which includes inclusivity and non-discrimination

	 Accepting South Africa’s diversity as a strength

	 Delivering outstanding, memorable events

	 Providing excellent service to Affiliates, Associates and Stakeholders

	 Optimising commercials rights and properties on behalf of its Affiliates and Associates

	 Implementing good governance based on King 2, and matching diligence, honesty and transparency to all our 

activities

	 Actively marketing cricket from Mini Cricket to the Proteas.

CODE OF ETHICS
Cricket South Africa’s Code of Ethics is based on:

	 Fundamental ethical values that are enshrined in the South African Constitution

	 The core values of the game of cricket as defined in the Preamble to the Laws of Cricket

	 The principles and ideals contained in CSA’s Pledge to the Nation in 2002

	 CSA’s role as the custodian of cricket in South Africa

CSA VALUES
Values are norms or standards for right, good and fair conduct. They are the underlying beliefs we hold about the way 

life should be lived and business conducted.

CSA is committed to living by the following values:

 (a) Honesty and integrity.

  We tell the truth and act consistently on a set of ethical principles.

 (b) Professionalism and diligence.

  We strive to perform at the highest level of excellence.

 (c) Mutual respect and fairness.

  We acknowledge the rights and dignity of others and treat those we engage with equitably.

TRANSFORMATION
Cricket South Africa subscribes to targeted transformation as outlined in the Preamble of the South African 

Constitution as well as Chapter Two which deals with the Bill of Rights and Equality (to promote the achievement 

of equality, legislative and other measures designed to protect and advance persons, or categories of personas, 

disadvantaged by unfair discrimination may be taken).

The implementation of CSA’s Transformation Policy and its 10 Thrusts are monitored continuously. The Policy is 

reviewed from time to time in terms of the dynamic nature of cricket and of South African society as a whole.
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that cricket will emerge from this crisis in a far better 

state than it was before.

I always conclude by restating how very lucky we all 

are to be members of this extra-ordinary organisation. 

Much as the work that we do as administrators is very 

demanding, but this is a job that we love, and in which 

we are helped and also get to meet some of the most 

wonderful people on earth. 

On a personal note, I want to thank you for allowing me 

to lead you for the past three exciting years. It has been 

a singular honour for me to be the President of CSA: and 

my gratitude to all of you for this priviledge and for your 

friendship is deep and boundless.

I thank you.

Dr. Mtutuzeli Nyoka

Dr Mtutuzeli Nyoka and 
Makhaya Ntini during a 
press conference.

Cricketer of the Year, Jacques Kallis  
receives his award from Dr Mtutuzeli Nyoka.

prESiDEnT’S mESSagE

I would like from 

the outset to thank 

our Board and 

Members for their 

hard work in the 

past season. I want 

to thank members 

of our amateur 

and professional 

cricket, the various 

subcommittees, 

and our CEO and 

his staff from the 

highest to the lowliest 

of them for their diligence and dedication. I would also 

like to thank our sponsors for their support, vision and 

patience. 

As we reach the beginning of a new season we must 

cast a glance at the one that has gone past. The past 

season has been most eventful both on and off the 

playing field. Many issues have occurred: some to 

the benefit of the game and others unfortunately 

troubling. 

A nation reveals itself not only by the men and women 

it produces but also by those it honours. It was 

therefore sad to say farewell to Makhaya Ntini, the most 

successful black cricketer to ever grace the game in 

South Africa. He served the game and his country with 

great distinction, humility and honour, and now his 

name and fame are something we all take pride in. 

After many campaigns and a long and illustrious career, 

matched only by a few, we sadly have to bid him 

farewell. We are grateful to him for the many special 

memories. We are grateful for the contribution he made 

to our national greatness, and wish him the very best 

for the future.

There were honours for some our cricketers. AB de 

Villiers was named as the ICC ODI Cricketer of the Year, 

and was the only South African player to be included in 

the World ODI team. 

Hashim Amla, Dale Steyn and Jacques Kallis were 

included in the ICC Test team. For these achievements 

our country is proud and grateful.

The two World Cup campaigns, in the West Indies and 

Asia, unfortunately ended in disappointment for the 

Proteas. I have no doubt that these losses have been an 

opportunity to learn a few lessons. Perhaps one of the 

most important ones is that much as it takes hard work 

to get to the top, to stay there requires many times 

more the sacrifice.

I have no doubt therefore our player’s misfortunes, 

which would have disheartened and daunted lesser 

souls, will stir them to raise their already high standards 

to greater heights. I also have no doubt the necessary 

post mortem will be done and the right lessons will be 

learnt.

Honesty impels me to admit that no other question, no 

other issue preoccupies the cricket family more than 

the crisis in our national administration. For the past 

eight months our leadership have been plagued by 

conflict that has brought about disunity and significant 

harm to the game.

All the issues are well known to you, and therefore to 

repeat them will be unwise. The question is of course 

how are we going to respond to this challenge, which 

left unaddressed will destroy the game? I would like 

from the outset to express my profound apology 

to the entire cricket fraternity for this unfortunate 

situation.

There is one positive outcome of this crisis, whatever 

its causes were: it has made all of us focus on how 

to construct a healthy and just cricket society in our 

country. 

Whatever the strife of the factions and whatever the 

excitement to the public mind, there is one thing 

around which all of us must rally and that is to commit 

ourselves to putting the interests of the game above all 

else.

Unity still is the main theme of my presidency: to bring 

together all the different and disparate components 

of the cricket family. For without unity none of the 

many lofty goals we have can be attained, and more 

importantly we will let the people of our country down. 

The next few weeks may be those filled with uncertainty 

but I want to express my confident conviction to you 



fans around the world and did much to enhance the 

status of Test cricket.

The past season saw the disappearance of two of 

our own legends, Makhaya Ntini and Herschelle 

Gibbs, from the international stage. They have given 

us much pleasure over the years (who will ever 

forget Herschelle’s brilliant 175 in the 438 game or 

Makhaya’s 10-wicket haul at Lord’s). The inaugural 

Krish Mackerdhuj Trophy match at the Moses Mabhida 

Stadium gave Makhaya a well deserved tribute 

although his legacy will remain as a brand ambassador 

and as the mentor of future stars from his own planned 

academy.

I would also like to congratulate Zimbabwe on their 

return to the Test match arena with every prospect of 

developing a healthy rivalry with us in the years  

ahead.

CSA DAY

CSA DAY celebrated its third edition this year 

immediately after our sizeable contingent of players 

returned from the Indian Premier League. This ‘Oscar’ 

event which also includes the camaraderie of a golf 

event involving our administrators, players, sponsors 

and other stakeholders, has grown remarkably over 

Jacques Kallis
World No. 1 
Batsman.

AB de Villiers
World No. 2  
Batsman in ODI.

Hashim Amla
World No. 1  
Batsman in ODI.

Imran Tahir during the ICC 
Cricket World Cup match 
between SA and West Indies.
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CEo’S rEporT

In casting my mind 

back over the past 

cricketing year I 

couldn’t help but 

recall the impact 

Jonty Rhodes made 

on the world with 

his brilliant fielding 

at the 1992 World 

Cup. What brought 

this to mind was 

the impact our 

newest Protea, 

Imran Tahir, made on 

the latest edition of the ICC Cricket World Cup played 

earlier this year.

Imran qualified as a naturalised South African on 

January 1 this year and was immediately thrust into the 

hurly burly of the one-day game. He sat on the bench 

through the home series against India largely because 

the pitches required a seam-dominated attack. But he 

was always going to play a major role in a World Cup on 

the sub-continent.

His figures speak for themselves. He took 14 wickets in 

only five matches – missing two matches through injury 

– and had the best average of the tournament among 

the leading wicket takers of 10.7 while his economy rate 

of 3.7 was only bettered by Pakistan’s Shahid Afridi.

But it wasn’t just his statistics that made such an 

impact. He has changed forever the way the Proteas 

play the ODI format. Gone is the seam-dominated 

predictability of the past. Graeme Smith regularly made 

13 or 14 bowling changes in an innings and the Proteas 

bowled their opponents out inside the distance in 

nearly every game.

Imran also re-established the importance of spin 

bowling and gave it a re-birth in a South African 

context in partnership with Robbie Peterson (who will 

forget his magic opening spell against England?) and 

Johan Botha.

Above all, Imran proudly wears his passion to be a 

Protea on his shirt and he will become a magnificent 

role model for our youth in the years ahead. I believe 

that the development of a new ODI culture will take 

away a lot of the pain of yet another disappointing 

overall performance at the World Cup. This will bring 

a new spirit to the side, further invigorated by a new 

leadership team of Gary Kirsten, AB de Villiers and 

Hashim Amla.

It was a disappointing year overall for the Proteas as, 

in addition to the World Cup failing, we failed to win 

either of our Test series in the period under review 

against Pakistan and India. The latter gave us the 

opportunity to regain the World No. 1 ranking and it 

was an important opportunity lost. What made it even 

more frustrating was the excellence shown by many 

individuals. Those of us who were fortunate enough 

to witness it live will never forget the manner in which 

Jacques Kallis challenged the pain barrier to score 

centuries in both innings of the Test match at Sahara 

Park Newlands and we were equally thrilled to see him 

finally score a Test double century in the same series at 

SuperSport Park.

The partnership between Kallis and De Villiers in that 

same match that saw 225 runs scored before lunch on 

the third morning (admittedly in a longer session than 

normal) must rank as one of the greatest South African 

batting displays of all time. It also saw successive 

double century partnerships between Amla 

 and Kallis and then Kallis and De Villiers and  

included the latter scoring the fastest ever  

South African Test century (75 balls).

At the time of writing – and this  

statistic is unlikely to change  

soon – the Proteas have the  

No. 1 batsman (Jacques Kallis),  

the No. 1 bowler (Dale Steyn)  

and the No. 1 all-rounder  

(Jacques Kallis) in the world.  

In addition, Amla and De  

Villiers are ranked Nos. 1  

and 2 in the ODI format.

Indeed the battles  

between Steyn and  

the legendary Sachin  

Tendulkar gripped  

the imagination of  
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Dale Steyn
World No. 1 
Bowler.
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past year (Standard Bank International Pro20 Cricketer 

of the Year).

In the domestic professional category new Protea Faf 

du Plessis was named MTN40 Cricketer of the Year 

and England International Owais Shah Standard Bank 

Domestic Pro20 Cricketer of the Year while Richard 

Pybus, who guided the Nashua Mobile Cape Cobras to 

two of the three domestic titles, was 

named Coach of the Year.

Lonwabo Tsotsobe 
Standard Bank Pro20 
Cricketer of the Year.

Richard Pybus licks his lips while looking at 
the trophy during the Standard Bank Pro20 
final match between Nashua Dolphins and 
Nashua Titans.

Owais Shah of the Cape Cobras during the 
Standard Bank Pro20 match between Nashua 
Mobile Cape Cobras and Chevrolet Warriors.

such a short period of time and honours appropriately 

our stars both of today and TOMORROW.

The build-up to the climax of naming the CSA 

Cricketer of the Year has added excitement and 

lustre to the occasion, particularly as there have 

been so many outstanding candidates in the 

running for CSA’s ultimate honour. The 

award has, in fact, been won by six 

different cricketers in the eight years of 

its existence with Jacques Kallis and 

Makhaya Ntini having won it two times 

each and Shaun Pollock, Dale Steyn, 

Graeme Smith and Hashim Amla once 

each.

This year the award went to Kallis who 

had previously won the inaugural 

award in 2004. He was also named 

Castle Test Cricketer of the Year, having 

scored five centuries in the period under 

review to take his grand career total to 40 – 

only the second player after Sachin Tendulkar to 

reach this mark. He then completed a memorable 

evening with a hat trick of awards with the KFC 

“So Good!” Award for his back-to-back centuries 

in the Newlands Test match in spite of being in 

considerable pain.

Imran Tahir was also a triple award winner, being 

named CSA International Newcomer of the Year, 

Domestic Players’ Player of the Year and SuperSport 

Series Cricketer of the Year.

Two of the most important awards are the 

International Players’ Player of the Year and 

the CSA Fans’ Cricketer of the Year. One 

amounts to recognition by your peers 

and the other to recognition by the 

public and it says a lot about 

Hashim Amla that he won 

both of them. Respect 

is something that all 

international players 

strive for and it is in 

many ways the ultimate accolade.

The other main international awards went to  

AB de Villiers (ODI Cricketer of the Year) and Lonwabo 

Tsotsobe, surely the most improved Protea over the 
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Francois du Plessis of the Titans 
runs a single during the MTN40 
match between Nashua Titans 
and Chevrolet Knights.



themselves down in the World Cup quarter-final against 

New Zealand.

This is something that will have to be addressed by the 

new management team headed by Gary Kirsten who 

has the twin tasks of improving the Proteas’ rankings in 

the Test match and ODI formats and in bringing home 

some major silverware.

There is no doubt that the talent is there on paper. 

The Proteas scored 10 centuries in the five Tests they 

played against Pakistan and India with Hashim Amla, 

Jacques Kallis and AB de Villiers confirming their status 

as a middle-order as strong as any in world cricket. The 

same applies to Dale Steyn and Morne Morkel who 

represent the premier new ball attack in world cricket. 

One of the problems may be that there is too great 

a reliance on these players. The Proteas, for instance 

collapsed from 262/4 to 362 all out in the Castle Test 

against India at Sahara Park Newlands while there 

was far too great a reliance on Steyn and Morkel to 

take wickets, particularly in the second innings. This 

probably explains why the Proteas have failed to win a 

Test series for some time now.

There were also too many lower-middle-order 

collapses in the ODI format for comfort and that 
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Akhona Nyiki 
CSA Girls’ under-19  
Player of the Tournament.

Dane Paterson 
CSA Provincial Three-Day 
Cricketer of the Year.

Matthew Hulett
CSA Provincial One-Day 
Cricketer of the Year.

Morne Morkel in full 
flight during the practice 
match between SA and 
Zimbabwe.
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As always, CSA Day started with the SA Cricket Awards 

Breakfast, in conjunction with KFC, to honour both 

the stars of TOMORROW and to recognize the past as 

well. The Khaya Majola Lifetime Award falls into the 

latter category and is the highlight of this function. 

This year the honour went to Simon Swigelaar of South 

Western Districts for his contribution over 50 years as 

player, coach, umpire and administrator. His speech of 

acceptance was one of the highlights of the morning.

Another was the award of the KFC Mini-Cricket Coach 

of the Year Award to Sarah Swartz of Griquas. One of 

her early success stories was Proteas’ batsman Loots 

Bosman and he was on hand to share the moment with 

her. 

Sunette Loubser was named CSA Women’s Cricketer of 

the Year after the most successful year in the history 

of our women’s national team while it was significant 

that four members of the current national under-19 

squad (Quinton de Kock: Coca-Cola Khaya Majola 

under-19 Player of the Tournament; Keaton Jennings: 

CSA under-19 Cricketer of the Year; Regardt Verster: 

CSA under-17 Player of the Tournament; and Diego 

Rosier: Standard Bank Schools Pro20 Player of the Year) 

were all honoured. The CSA Girls’ under-19 Player of the 

Tournament went to Akhona Nyiki of Border.

The main amateur domestic playing awards went to 

Dane Paterson of Western Province (CSA Provincial 

Three-Day Cricketer of the Year) and Matthew Hulett of 

KwaZulu-Natal (CSA Provincial One-Day Cricketer of the 

Year).

CSA’s heartiest congratulations go to all the award 

winners as they represent the future of South African 

cricket.

The amateur awards are rapidly gaining media exposure 

and this will increase further with the moves being 

made to bridge the gap between provincial and 

franchise cricket and with the spotlight that will fall on 

next year’s ICC Under-19 World Cup.

THE PROTEAS

THE Proteas had a frustrating year in which they could 

scale heights of sublime brilliance such as in the Castle 

Test match against India at SuperSport Park and in the 

ODI against the same opponents during the ICC World 

Cup in one of the most thrilling runs chases ever at 

this tournament but could also let themselves down 

badly. This occurred when they performed poorly in the 

second Test against India at Sahara Stadium Kingsmead 

to throw away their advantage and when they let 
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Sarah Swartz
KFC Mini-Cricket 
Coach of the Year.

Regardt Verster
CSA Under-17 

Cricketer of the Year.

Diego Rosier 
Standard Bank Schools  

Pro20 Player of the  
    Tournament.
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directly into line with the ODI 

format which should 

strengthen the skills of 

our future Proteas. 

One area that 

may need attention 

is the fact that many of 

the franchises put teams in the field that were below 

normal strength in the final rounds of the SuperSport 

Series.

NATIONAL WOMEN’S TEAM

Our national women’s team can look back on their 

most successful year ever and CSA’s Women’s Cricketer 

of the Year, Sunette Loubser, and her colleagues can 

be highly satisfied with what they have achieved. The 

standout individual performance 

was Shandre Fritz’s world record 

innings of 116 not out against 

the Netherlands in a 

T20 International.

The team were 

clear winners of 

the inaugural ICC 

Women’s Challenge for 

countries below the big 

four of England, Australia, New 

Zealand and India on the world 

rankings. This automatically 

gives South Africa a best ever 

ranking of No. 5.

The target must now be to 

develop a more testing fixtures’ 

programme to prepare the team for 

the next World Cup and enable them 

to break through to the big guns of 

women’s cricket.

Temba Bavuma of the 
Lions running after a shot 
to the legside during the 
SuperSport series match 
between Highveld Lions  
and Chevrolet Warriors.

Obus Pienaar from the 
Chevrolet Knights during 
the match between 
Nashua Mobile 

Cape Cobras.

eventually brought their World Cup campaign to an 

early close.

It is important nevertheless to recognise individual 

achievement. Two of those that stand out are Jacques 

Kallis becoming the second cricketer after Sachin 

Tendulkar to reach the milestone of 40 Test centuries 

and AB de Villiers making South Africa’s highest ever 

Test score of 278 not out and the fastest ever Test 

century (75 balls).

It was extremely gratifying to see the huge numbers 

that turned out to watch the Proteas at home in the 

series against India that gripped the imagination of 

fans around the world at a time when there was a rival 

attraction in the Ashes series ‘down under’. The turnout 

reached a climax in the inaugural Krish Mackerdhuj 

Trophy match at the Moses Mabhida Stadium in 

Durban which was witnessed by more than 50 000 

spectators – a record for any cricket match on the 

African continent.

The TV ratings, both on SuperSport and SABC, were 

similarly high.

FRANCHISE CRICKET

Congratulations must be extended to the Nashua 

Mobile Cape Cobras who matched the performance of 

the Chevrolet Warriors the previous season in winning 

two of the three domestic trophies – in this case the 

four-day SuperSport Series and the Standard Bank 

Domestic Pro20. They had an inexplicable loss of form 

in mid-season when they played poorly in the MTN40. 

This trophy went to the Chevrolet Knights who beat the 

Nashua Titans convincingly in the final.

The standard of cricket at this level remains as high as 

in any other country and it is reflected by the manner in 

which our franchises perform in the Champions’ League 

Twenty20 (CLT20) and the success of the South Africa A 

side which is the next step through the pipeline to the 

Proteas. The Warriors put up an excellent performance 

to reach the Final of the Champions’ League and were 

virtually invincible on home turf while the bizhub 

Highveld Lions also represented CSA with distinction.

Faf du Plessis of the Nashua Titans performed 

outstandingly in the MTN40 and he and Imran Tahir of 

the Sunfoil Dolphins became the latest players to use 

domestic cricket to force their way into the 

Proteas’ squad and perform with distinction. At 

the other end of the scale there were several 

young players who are moving comfortably up 

from provincial to franchise level. Obus Pienaar 

of the Chevrolet Knights is one whose name 

springs immediately to mind as does Temba 

Bavuma of the bizhub Highveld Lions. There 

were also spectacular performances from the 

Cobras’ duo of Dane Piedt and Yaseen Vallie 

in their home match against the Titans that 

effectively decided the destiny of the first-class 

title.

There will be a substantial change to the 

format of the MTN40 competition 

which will be brought 

AB de Villiers 
during the 2nd 
Test match 
between SA 
and India.
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were brought together at the University of Stellenbosch 

for the final play-offs with the final between Waterkloof 

of Northerns and Noord Kaap of Griquas finishing in a 

tie and going to a super over that was almost tied as 

well before Waterkloof came out on top.

The fact that most of the matches on the finals’ day 

were televised live by SuperSport added further 

excitement and enthusiasm to the tournament and to 

the cause of youth cricket in general.

THE RISE OF SOCIAL MEDIA

This phenomenon has presented us with the 

opportunity of a lifetime to take our brand to the fans 

and to enable them to interact with the Proteas as well. 

There is little doubt that it is completely outstripping 

the conventional media and it has the added advantage 

that we can control the message we want to put out in 

the public domain.

It is a well known fact that Twitter and Facebook 

have become the fastest and most reliable source 

of information for our fans and it also gives us an 

unprecedented feedback of how they feel about the 

way we go about our business and perform on the field 

of play.

Facebook attracted 25 000 fans a year ago and that 

number has now rocketed to nearly 150 000. Much the 

same applies to Twitter which has come off a low base 

of 3 500 a year ago to a current figure of more than 

25 000. Both these statistics reveal an increase of some 

600 percent and the sky is literally the limit!

During the 2011 ICC Cricket World Cup, fans voted with 

their feet and came out in their numbers to show their 

support for the Proteas at the Pure Protea UbuntuNOW 

road shows, which was launched by CSA to galvanise 

100% fan support for the Proteas.

The road shows gave CSA a new way of communicating 

with fans from all over the country. One of the most 

important elements of the UbuntuNOW road show was 

to have player representation at each event and CSA 

were grateful for the support that the local domestic 

players showed for the Proteas. 

Another highlight of the year was the Township 

TV programme in which big screens were erected 

Keaton Jennings during the One 
day international U19 match 
between SA and Zimbabwe.
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COACHING AND HIGH PERFORMANCE

‘Coaching the coaches’ has been one of the main 

features of the past 12 months. This has been the 

consolidation and extension of the Coach Acceleration 

Programme (CAP) that was introduced in 2009/10 and 

encourages the respective affiliates and associates 

to introduce and implement similar initiatives and 

activities at regional level. With this in mind one of 

the initiatives this past year has been to hold camps 

at the High Performance Centre for regional coaches 

attending the national under-13 and under-15 weeks.

The major difference between these camps and 

actual coaching courses is the concentration on 

the development of the ‘people skills’ of coaches as 

opposed to the more technical, playing issues and 

to provide additional tools to assist coaches in their 

specific roles and responsibilities.

At the top end of the scale it is pleasing to report that 

there are now 10 more Level IV qualified coaches in the 

country and that five former Proteas have added their 

names to the list of qualified Level III coaches.

On the Academy playing front there was a successful 

tour of Bangladesh with the latter due to make a 

reciprocal tour here later in the year. The Academy was 

also involved in warm-up matches with the Emerging 

Players’ Squad before the latter left for their tournament 

in Australia. A total of 17 players are currently attending 

the Academy (3 withdrew from the original group 

of 20 because of studies or injury) and it is highly 

encouraging to note that 6 of them are Africans.

FIRST-CLASS DOMESTIC CRICKET

Western Province emulated their big brother, the 

Cobras, in doing the double of winning both the CSA 

three-day and one-day competitions. In the three-

day competition they were given a good run for their 

money by Gauteng who won eight out of 13 matches 

compared with the nine of Western Province. But in the 

one-day format there was no stopping the Newlands-

based side who won 11 out of 13 matches.

It was no surprise that they produced the CSA three-

day Cricketer of the Year in Dane Paterson who took an 

incredible 54 wickets. Together with Dane Piedt (44) he 

accounted for almost a century of dismissals. Piedt took 

a further 20 wickets in the one-day competition. They 

also had a stand-out young batting talent in Yaseen 

Vallie who scored nearly 800 runs at an average of 63. 

Only KZN’s Divan van Wyk (66) had a better average.

The CSA one-day Cricketer of the Year was KZN’s 

Matthew Hulett who had an outstanding batting 

average of more than 80 and a strike rate of 120.

One of the encouraging features is to see the number of 

former SA under-19 cricketers taking their first steps up 

the first-class ladder at this level. Dominic Hendricks, for 

instance, the ICC Cricketer of the Under-19 World Cup 

in 2010, had the sixth highest batting average. Vallie 

has already been mentioned while Pieter Malan scored 

heavily for Northerns.

The highlight for the provincial competitions 

generally and looking at the bigger picture must 

be the implementation next season of various 

recommendations designed to bridge the gap between 

provincial and franchise cricket. The most important 

of these will be the decision to enter a combined 

provincial XI in the Domestic T20 competition where 

these cricketers of the future will go head to head with 

the established stars of the domestic game.

With this in mind the provinces will play a mix of ODI-

style and Pro20 matches in their own competition in 

addition to the normal three-day games.

YOUTH CRICKET

A high standard was achieved at all the national age 

group and Cubs’ weeks and it is no surprise that our 

cricket at under-19 level is so strong. A lot of hard work 

has gone into identifying and preparing the squad 

for the 2012 ICC Under-19 World Cup and everything 

appears to be well on track with the squad, under the 

captaincy of Keaton Jennings of Gauteng and coached 

by Ray Jennings, having enjoyed an unbeaten series 

against Zimbabwe and then beaten England in England 

by a convincing 4-2 margin in a seven-match ODI series. 

A further series is planned involving Pakistan and 

Zimbabwe in January as part of the final preparation.

Cricket at Youth level is showing huge advances in terms 

of popularity. One of the reasons for this is the Standard 

Bank Schools Pro20 competition which attracted 648 

schools last summer. The winners of the six franchises 



2 0 1 0 / 1 1  A N N UA L  R E P O R T18 19

We now have to translate our financial strength 

and administrative prowess, which was once again 

well illustrated with the successful holding of the 

Champions’ League last year, into the success of the 

Proteas.

We face a very challenging season with home series 

against Australia and Sri Lanka and an away visit to New 

Zealand. Any series against Australia is always a huge 

challenge and this year will be no different. Sri Lanka 

have not visited us for a full tour for almost 10 years 

and the fact that they have been finalists at the last two 

World Cups is testament to the ability of their players. 

In addition they bring a unique style to the game that 

has been well illustrated in recent times by the likes 

of Muttiah Muralitharan, Lasith Malinga and Ajantha 

Mendis among others.

New Zealand will be a tough nut to crack on their home 

territory but the Proteas will be inspired by their World 

Cup defeat!

We welcome a new coaching staff on board at national 

level, headed by World Cup-winning coach Gary 

Kirsten as the Proteas set out to improve their world 

rankings and bring home that elusive silverware from 

next year’s ICC World Twenty20 in Sri Lanka. He will 

also have a new leadership structure in the limited 

overs formats in AB de Villiers and Hashim Amla and I 

wish them all well.

We also have a wonderful array of young talent coming 

through which has recently been well illustrated by our 

successful under-19 tour to England and the Emerging 

Players’ Squad tour to Australia where they have faced 

vastly more experienced opposition.

Perhaps most encouraging of all was the way two 

inexperienced youngsters – Richard Levi and Kelly 

Smuts – dominated the Standard Bank Domestic Pro20 

Final. This was a demonstration both of skill and mental 

strength.

Finally I must say a big thank you to my dedicated staff 

and to the members of the Board for their support and 

guidance. This year would not have been so successful 

if it weren’t for your contributions to the administration 

of the game.

We can realise our vision of making South African 

cricket a truly national sport of winners through 

building today for a better TOMORROW!

Gerald Majola

Cricket South Africa’s staff are 
passionate about their work and are 
dedicated to the vision of making 
cricket a truly national sport.

in as many Township venues as possible to enable 

disadvantaged children to watch and support the 

Proteas at the ICC World Cup. This initiative was 

combined with KFC Mini-Cricket Festivals during the 

break between innings that introduced many children 

to cricket for the first time. This is similar to the initiative 

that was launched by SAFA during the 2010 FIFA 2010 

World Cup and it was an overwhelming success once 

again.

Our website (www.cricket.co.za) continues to be 

fine-tuned and developed and we aim to make it the 

definitive online home of cricket in South Africa in 

particular to promote our development pipeline and 

the PURE PROTEA 100 percent South African campaign 

which both fall under the TOMORROW banner.

COMMERCIAL

The aim of CSA’s Commercial Programme is to grow 

revenue in a sustainable way in order to enable CSA to 

fulfil its various mandates from grassroots development 

all the way through to the Proteas.

CSA generates the majority of its commercial revenue 

from sponsors and the sale of broadcasting rights. To 

support these revenue streams CSA’s commercial team 

draws on the resources from the Brand & Corporate 

Relations Department (Brand, PR, Media, Marketing, 

Events) to ensure that CSA delivers on its contractual 

commitments, and that sponsor activations are in line 

with CSA’s brand building exercise, which continues to 

build momentum.

CSA is fortunate to have the support of high quality 

corporate partners, one of whom, Castle, has been with 

us for a very long time. We must also thank Standard 

Bank and MTN for their support and bid them farewell. 

Our thanks also go to our existing suppliers, sponsors 

and broadcasters, as well as the Department of Sports & 

Recreation and Lotto for their continued support.

We will be welcoming a new group of partners on 

board this season and we look forward to a happy and 

mutually beneficial partnership with all of them.

FINANCE

In the year under review CSA had the biggest revenue 

year it has ever experienced and consequently the 

bottom line is the best ever as well. It is important 

that we continue to grow in this way as the cost 

of maintaining a world-class Proteas’ team and of 

increasing our development programmes is going to 

grow as well. The figures we have produced over the 

past two years have allowed for budgeting certainty for 

the administration of cricket at head office and in the 

regions.

The actual to budget amounts are dealt with under the 

Chairman of the Finance and Commercial Committee’s 

Report and the figures make very good reading indeed!

CSA is in its third year running as a Section 21 Company 

and the tax benefits have given a huge boost to the 

amount of money we can spend at grassroots level.

CONCLUSION

South African cricket has never been so financially 

stable in its history. We have had back-to-back years 

of the biggest profits ever. This is extraordinary good 

news as it means that CSA can sustain its extensive 

development and high performance programmes for 

the foreseeable future.

The Annual Financial Statements (AFS) reveal both 

record income and a record bottom line.

We have concluded a number of highly compelling 

agreements with our commercial partners and we have 

been able to ensure that CSA’s finances remain healthy.

Given the tough economic conditions that continue to 

prevail both in South Africa and globally, CSA is proud 

to have successfully concluded its best ever commercial 

deals. This will afford us the comfort of knowing that 

adequate funding is in place for the foreseeable future.

I believe that as CSA our voice and influence in the 

global game of cricket is a critical one as we have one 

of the richest heritages of this great sport. We have 

already demonstrated our leadership in many aspects 

of the game and we will continue to act as a hub for 

development and excellence in all aspects of the game 

and business of cricket.

These development and excellence programmes are 

the cement in CSA’s brickwork and will provide the solid 

foundation to take South African cricket to the top. CSA 

is most grateful to its loyal broadcasters, sponsors and 

suppliers and we pay tribute to them elsewhere in this 

report.
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Graeme Smith and Dr Mohammed 
Moosajee at the CSA AGM held in 
2010.
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worKing To EnSUrE a BrighTEr FUTUrE For CriCKET

The 2011 Cricket South Africa (CSA) Annual Conference 

is being eagerly awaited, as the cricket family seeks to 

finalise its plans for the next four years, and align it to 

the 2011-2015 CSA Strategy. 

Cricket personnel around the country have been 

working hard to implement decisions taken at the 

last CSA Annual Conference in August 2010, which 

consisted of four days of discussion and decision-

making, which helped take the game forward, and 

paved the way for a healthy future for South African 

cricket. Everybody from scorers, umpires, administrators 

and coaches were involved in key meetings during the 

Conference, to brainstorm the strategy for the next four 

years. 

One of the ideas was to introduce the “marketing of 

cricket” as a fifth pillar, to support the existing four 

pillars of Excellence, Development, Transformation 

and Sustainability. Extensive work has taken place at 

CSA head office over the past few months, with the 

Commercial, Brand and Corporate Relations teams 

joining forces to support the improved promotion 

of cricket at all levels. These ideas will be further 

workshopped at the upcoming CSA Annual Conference 

from 7-10 September 2011, to finalise the key goals of 

this fifth pillar.

The Presidential Plan, cricket development’s key rubric, 

which was work-shopped at the last Conference, is now 

being more enthusiastically implemented across the 

country, with CSA’s development managers actively 

driving these programmes on the ground. The aim of 

the Presidential Plan is to raise the holistic standard of 

cricket around the country, from Mini-Cricket to the 

Proteas. 

Various format changes were agreed to and 

implemented during the past season. Some have 

worked while others haven’t. The Cricket Committee 

have proposed to the Board that the MTN40 revert 

to a 50 overs competition that exactly mirrors the 

ODI format in all its facets. This includes all the 

recommendations that were approved at the ICC Board 

meeting in July regarding the taking of power plays and 

the use of two balls instead of changing the ball at 34 

overs.

There have also been discussions about introducing 

a semi-professional league and this will be 

implemented in the three-day and limited overs 

provincial competitions during the forthcoming 

season. The prime motivation for this change is to 

bridge the gap between provincial and franchise 

cricket. A select XI from the provinces will compete 

in the Domestic Pro20 competition to take this 

objective a step further. With this in mind the 

provincial limited overs competition will be a mix of 

Pro20 and 50 overs matches.

In other important changes the Pro20 will be played 

over a double round of home and away matches while 

the winners of the league section of both the 50 overs 

and Pro20 competitions will automatically qualify 

for the final with the second and third placed teams 

competing for the other place in the final.

The upcoming Conference will see further discussion 

about what is needed to ensure that the domestic 

cricket scene is constantly rejuvenated to keep up 

with the times and close the gap with international 

cricket. 

In efforts to bring the administrative handling of 

women’s cricket on par with the standards set by CSA, 

the Women’s Cricket Strategy workshop agreed at the 

last Conference to dissolve the Women’s Executive 

Committee. The management of women’s cricket was 

split into two committees; the Working Committee, 

which is charged with handling all developmental 

matters, and the High Performance Committee, which 

handles all matters relating to the national team. 

Women’s cricket has made big strides since that 

decision was taken a year ago, most significantly, the 

national women’s team. As a result of their outstanding 

performance at the inaugural ICC Women’s Cricket 

Challenge tournament in Potchefstroom last year, 

South Africa improved their international standing and 

are now ranked fifth in the world, behind the Big Four: 

England, New Zealand, India and Australia.

Cricket is growing at a fast pace and CSA is keen to 

ensure that the game is keeping the pace at all levels, 

both on and off the field. 



CSA hosted three successful KFC Mini-Cricket festivals 

at the Proteas test matches this past season. Alongside 

this, CSA and KFC hosted a dedicated family area on the 

same day as the festival in order for parents to enjoy the 

match, while the children were being entertained. 

Township TV, which was hosted to garner support for 

the Proteas ICC Cricket World Cup campaign provided 

CSA with an ideal opportunity to further extend the 

programme into disadvantaged communities, with over 

2000 kids being introduced to Mini-Cricket.

South Western District hosted the CSA/KFC Mini-Cricket 

Marketing Tour in March 2011. The intention was to 

introduce sponsors to communities as well as to test the 

strength of the programme in the area. 

While CSA is encouraged by progress made at this level, 

it would also like to see a more concerted effort in terms 

of better coaching, improved quality of cricket and 

systematic planning. 

To support the Unions in addressing the lack of quality 

coaching, a new initiative, Coaching the Coaches, was 

introduced.

NATIONAL SCHOOLS TOURNAMENTS

The National Schools Tournaments are important 

milestones and measuring tools within CSA’s Cricket 

Development Pipeline. A total 1196 young cricketers 

made it through various programs to reach the pinnacle 

in their age groups.

CSA also met its obligation towards development in 

Africa by hosting Namibian and Zimbabwean sides in 

five tournaments

The six Schools Tournaments were held in 

Potchefstroom, Port Elizabeth, Kimberley, Pretoria 

and Bloemfontein. The combination of volunteers – 

Tournament Directors- and Provincial Offices once 

again ensured that the normal high standards were 

maintained.

Unseasonable rains created problems but thanks to 

hardworking ground staff, the majority of matches took 

place.

A new development was the appointment of Wayne 

Parnell as Coca-Cola Khaya Majola Under-19 Cricket 
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Lizanne Bartlett (KFC Marketing Director), 
AB de Villiers, Trisha Chetty, Makhaya Ntini 
and Kass Naidoo during the KFC Mini Cricket 
Ambassador launch.

YoUTh CriCKET on ThE riSE

Cricket South 

Africa’s (CSA) vision 

is to make cricket 

a truly national 

sport of winners 

and one of the key 

focus areas is the 

youth. To this end, 

CSA’s Youth Cricket 

department has 

worked tirelessly 

to deliver on the 

Presidential Plan, 

which is the blueprint 

for cricket development in South Africa. The Youth 

department has had a full calendar from KFC Mini 

Cricket through to the SA Under-19 team.

KFC MINI CRICKET

There has been renewed energy at the entry level of 

the game, following KFC’s introduction as title sponsor 

of the Mini-Cricket programme. The launch of KFC 

Mini-Cricket ambassadors, Proteas ODI and T20 captain 

AB de Villiers, former Proteas fast bowler Makhaya Ntini 

and national women’s cricketer Trisha Chetty, was a 

further boost to the programme, as their involvement 

served as inspiration to both players and administrators 

alike. 

All 16 regional KFC Mini-Cricket festivals were 

successfully concluded and the majority of the Unions 

are complying with the rubric document. Rubric is 

the document that guides and measures the level of 

compliance of the Presidential plan in each province. 

It was heartening to see how everyone is making an 

effort to mirror the National Seminar when it comes to 

putting together regional seminars. 

The National Seminar, held at Ingwenyama Sports 

and Conference Resort in Nelspruit, was successful 

in bringing together the KFC Mini-Cricket family, and 

helped chart the way forward for the programme.

The outcomes of the seminar include: 

		 The extension of the age of girl’s playing Mini-

Cricket to 13 to encourage the growth of girl’s 

cricket in South Africa. 

		 A minimum of 20 schools per union will join the 

mini-cricket programme in the 2012/2013 season. 

		 20 rural schools must be added to each union 

during the same period and the number of schools 

involved in the programme must increase by 

10 percent.
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Youngsters pose during the 
KFC Mini Cricket at Sahara 
Park Kingsmead in Durban.
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Hoërskool Waterkloof 
representing Titans 
celebrates their win 
during the final  
against Noord 
Kaap High School 
representing the 
Knights at the Standard 
Bank Schools Pro20.

Captain of Hoërskool Waterkloof receives the Standard 
Bank Schools Pro 20 trophy from CSA Board Member 
Dr Peter Cyster and Andisa Ntsubane (Head of Global 
Sponsorships for Standard Bank).

A total of seven matches were televised, including the 

final match between Noord Kaap and Waterkloof which 

ended in a tie. 

Waterkloof was crowned as champions after prevailing 

in a Super Over. This was the second consecutive time 

that a Pretoria school won the title.

SA Under-19 player, Diego Rosier was named as the 

player of the tournament.

This tournament has created tremendous interest and 

has been a fantastic boost to Schools Cricket.

TALENT ACCELERATION PROGRAMME

Six Regional camps were held in both the Under-17 

and Under-19 age groups within the franchise 

demarcations. U17s are put through a battery of tests, 

which include fitness, psychometric and skills and 

around 140 players were put through this process.

The third annual CUBS week was held in Stellenbosch, 

and the standard of play was again of a very high 

standard. This week is the culmination of the Talent 

Acceleration Programme and also helps in selecting the 

SA Under-19 team.

SOUTH AFRICA UNDER 19

The South African Under-19 team are gelling into a very 

strong unit in preparation for the next ICC Under-19 

World Cup in Australia. 

The team played in home and away series against 

Zimbabwe winning all matches which consisted of ten 

U19 ODI’S and Four T20 matches.

A tour to England took place in July 2011 and a 

Triangular Series with Pakistan and Zimbabwe is 

planned for January 2012.

The captain of the SA U19 team Keaton Jennings was 

rewarded for his consistent performances at all levels by 

being named the SA U19 player of the year.

The future looks bright, and CSA is excited about the 

upcoming season and the prospect of ensuring further 

growth of its key cricket development programmes. 

Niels Momberg
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Week ambassador. Parnell addressed the players at the 

closing function which was a tremendous source of 

inspiration to all present.

The following players were named as players of the 

tournament after outstanding performances:

Jurie Snyman – CSA U15 week

Regardt Verster – CSA U17 week

Akhona Nyiki – Girls U19 week

Quinton de Kock – Coca Cola Khaya Majola week

STANDARD BANK SCHOOLS PRO20 
CHALLENGE 

At least 650 schools participated in the 2010/2011 

Standard Bank Schools Pro20 Challenge, which has 

fast become an important competition in the Schools 

Cricket Calendar

The finals weekend this year was hosted by Boland 

at the University of 

Stellenbosch.

The franchises were 

represented by 

Wynberg (Cobras), 

Maritzburg College 

(Dolphins), King 

Edward VII (Lions), 

Northern Cape 

(Knights), Grey High 

School (Warriors) and 

Waterkloof 

High School 

(Titans).

Wayne Parnell during 
the CSA National 
Schools Week Launch.
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University of Fort Hare (UFH) won promotion from 

the B week (Pretoria) and will now compete amongst 

the elite performers within the A week structure. 

The progress of the University of Fort Hare is a direct 

result of engagement between the hierarchies of 

CSA, its Affiliate and UFH. This kind of collective 

engagement is a sure way of achieving the noble 

vision of CSA.

The Nelson Mandela Metropolitan 

University annexed the laurels at the 

USSA A Week that was held in the greater 

Cape Town.

The Rural competition was run without 

any glitches. The best performers within 

this round robin competition contested in 

the annual Rural Cricket final in White River. 

This week delivered quality cricket in the 

scenic backdrop of the Lebombo Mountains. 

Gauteng emerged as the eventual winners 

of the Rural Cricket Week. The selected Rural 

XI played against the SA Forces XI in the world 

renowned environment of Skukuza in the 

Kruger National Park. The SA Rural XI won 

this annual competition with ease. This 

prompted the Rural Cricket Committee 

to engage USSA Cricket for further 

competition. 

The introduction of the inland and coastal 

Academy Weeks contributed to the resuscitation 

of many Affiliate and Associate Academies. In some 

regions, great partnerships developed between 

Affiliates and operating private academies in ensuring 

that young talented cricketers are provided with 

opportunities for further development. This was 

another innovation where the synergies of our Affiliate 

and accredited private academies confluence to 

achieve the greater good. These Weeks were held 

in Oudtshoorn and Kimberley respectively. The best 

performers from these events were selected into the 

respective Franchise Colts Squads.

The Colts Week held in April 2011 was a resounding 

success in Potchefstroom on all fronts. A squad of 26 

players was selected for further elite development 

programmes later this year.  

The programmes for the Differently Abled Cricketers 

delivered eventful programmes during this review 

season.

Blind Cricket South Africa hosted Pakistan in a series 

of three ODI’s and three T20’s in Cape Town during 

December 2010. Pakistan inflicted a series white 

wash against South Africa. CSA contributed R700 000 

towards the costs of hosting this event. Senior Cricket 

Manager Max Jordaan addressed the dignitaries and 

participating nations at the Opening function that was 

hosted by the City of Cape Town. 

Deaf Cricket South Africa in turn undertook a tour to 

Australia where they participated in a Triangular Series. 

The South African Sports Association for the 

Intellectually Impaired (SASAII) has replaced Winston 

Stubbs as the chairperson. He is 

succeeded by Lucky Mpshe. 

SASAII is expected to host a 

Tri-series in November 2011.

Max Jordaan
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Shandre Fritz with the 
highest score ever during 
the ICC T20 International 
Women’s Cricket match  
between SA and 
Netherlands.

The season under 

review got off 

to a great start, 

as the Cricket 

South Africa (CSA) 

Annual Conference 

clarified issues and 

set the objectives 

for the new season.

These objectives 

became beacons 

that were pursued 

with great success 

within the various projects run within the Senior Cricket 

Program. 

The National Club Championship has maintained its 

attraction and aspiration for many at club level to prove 

their attained prowess has now reached levels that 

would qualify these players worthy of places within the 

respective provincial teams. 

Maurice Aronstam (PHSOB CC) and Piet van Niekerk 

(Impala CC) became the first players to reach a 

milestone of 1 000 runs in this event. David White 

was recognized as the player of the Week. Free State 

University was crowned champions after beating CSP 

Crusaders from Durban by five wickets in the final. 

The SA Women’s National team had a year of 

outstanding achievements. They were unbeaten at 

the inaugural ICC Women Challenge, where they 

ascended to fifth position after being locked into 

seventh position for many years. Shandre Fritz attained 

a world record for the highest individual score of 116 

not out at the Women’s T20 international competitions. 

This achievement was against the Netherlands. Other 

achievers who moved into the ICC top 20 batting 

rankings were Cri-Zelda Brits (6th), Trisha Chetty (17th) 

and Mignon du Preez (20th). Sunette Loubser attained a 

ranking of 14th in the ICC Women’s bowling rankings. 

The SA Women completely dominated within the 

continental qualifier series for the ICC World Cup 

Qualifier, which takes place in Bangladesh in November 

2011. This has arrested the attention of Africa Cricket 

and the ICC to the huge gap in cricket skills between 

South Africa and the rest of Africa. Suffice to say that 

the final against Zimbabwe, the range of scores were 

South Africa 330/4 and Zimbabwe 30/10 in 12 overs. 

These performances illustrate the necessity for the 

SA Women team to participate more often against 

quality opposition outside of Africa. South Africa only 

managed to meet the ICC compliance of three ODI’s and 

three T20’s. It is necessary for South Africa to develop 

streetwise players to do well at the ICC Women’s World 

Cup. Reaching the 5th ranking on minimal international 

engagements amplifies the inherent ability of the 

current players within the national set up. 

The women’s competition at junior level is showing 

encouraging growth. The Regional interprovincial 

matches have become more competitive and the 

Super 4 competition is now delivering international 

ready players for the national team. This phenomenon 

is largely owing to the effective and efficient High 

Performance programme under the guidance of the 

national team coach, Yashin Ebrahim Hassan. Northerns 

won an interesting final against KwaZulu Natal at the 

Kingsmead Oval, Durban. 

The student cricket affairs ably run by University Sport 

South Africa (USSA) Cricket Committee has shown signs 

of maturation at both administrative and competition 

level. The unconditional buy-in from the USSA Cricket 

Executive, to the ideals and vision of CSA, has brought 

about many enterprising and innovative transformative 

actions. Other than only focusing on student 

competitions, USSA Cricket has embraced the idea of an 

inclusive approach and played representative matches 

against the SA Rural XI in both 50 over and T20 formats. 

This first time ever encounter, injected vigour in both 

USSA and Rural XI teams. Serious consideration is now 

being given to repeat the in-house challenge. USSA won 

both the formats, but not without its anxious moments.

At club level, the university teams continue to 

be dominant. This is evident in the national club 

championship at national level, as well as the number 

of university clubs that win their club competitions at 

local level. 

The annual national weeks for Tertiary institutions 

were held in Pretoria and Cape Town respectively. The 

SEnior CriCKET ConTinUES To FLoUriSh
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of the players have to take unpaid leave to be able to 

play, and the match fee helps a bit,” said Jordaan.

He said great progress was also being made at the 

Under-19 level, which serves as a feeder level for the 

national team.

“For a long time, no-one wanted to play us, because we 

were ranked 11th,” said Jordaan. “But then we finished 

second at the 2008 Under-19 World Cup, and suddenly 

people were keen to play us. “

Captain Cri-Zelda Brits has been part of the national 

team for the past 10- years and is therefore well 

qualified to judge.

“Things have definitely improved,” she said. “Our 

coaching has become more professional – we have 

specialists appointed to deal with different aspects, and 

the attention to detail is fantastic.”

She agreed that the coming series against England was 

of major importance.

“We know that teams like England 

have been in the same place we 

are now, but they’ve moved 

ahead,” she said. “If we are 

going to compete against the 

top four, we have to become 

semi-professional, but to do 

that, we have to prove to potential 

sponsors that it is worth spending 

money on us.

“We also have to prove that we 

are willing to work hard. We have 

to put up a good show against 

England. If we do, the other top 

teams would be willing to play 

us, and we would be exposed 

to more and better cricket. 

So there is a lot hanging 

on that series against 

England. I can promise 

you that we will be 

playing with a lot of 

passion.”
Marizanne Kapp during 
the ICC Women’s Cricket 
Challenge match between 
South Africa and Pakistan.

Dane van Niekerk during 
the ICC Women’s Cricket 
Challenge match between 
South Africa and Pakistan.

womEn’S CriCKET on an UpwarD TraJECTorY

Women’s cricket is going places in South Africa, and if 

Cricket South Africa (CSA) has its way, things should just 

get better and better.

As a result of their outstanding performance at the 

inaugural ICC Women’s Cricket Challenge tournament 

in Potchefstroom last year, South Africa improved their 

international standing and are now ranked fifth in the 

world, behind the Big Four: England, New Zealand, India 

and Australia. 

South Africa were unbeaten in the ODIs and finished 

third in the Twenty-20 competition. The Challenge was 

held to determine positions 5-10 on the international 

rankings ladder.

“What is outstanding is that they have achieved this 

with very limited resources,” said coach Yashin Ebrahim, 

who took over the position shortly before the start of 

the ICC Challenge. 

“Their work ethic is superb, and they play with pride 

and passion – and they do it for no money at all. The 

commitment of the players in our national squad is 

brilliant.”

The next challenge facing the women’s team is a series 

against world champions England in Potchefstroom 

in October and Ebrahim believes this could be a 

watershed series for women’s cricket in this country.

“We might lose the series 3-0,” he said. “But what is 

important is the manner in which we lose. If we lose by 

10 or 20 runs, or by one wicket, against the best team in 

the world, people might start sitting up and taking us 

seriously. But who knows? We might even win.”

CSA, with support from the National Lottery 

Distribution Fund, has put in place a high performance 

programme for the top players to help them compete 

at the highest level. 

“We have a professional coach for the elite players, 

and we have also brought on board assistant coaches 

to help with skills training,” said CSA Senior Cricket 

Manager Max Jordaan. 

He said other specialists, such as a video analyst to 

study matches and players, a bio-

kineticist and a team manager 

had also been appointed.

“We have also 

introduced a 

match fee for 

international 

matches. Many 

2 0 1 0 / 1 1  A N N UA L  R E P O R T28

South Africa with the winners trophy during 
the ICC Women’s Cricket Challenge between 
South Africa and Netherlands.
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Former Proteas Paul Adams, Dave Callaghan, Lance 

Klusener, Roger Telemachus and Daleen Terblanche 

added their names to the list of qualified Level 

III coaches in the country by completing all the 

requirements and standards of their particular course. 

The number of qualified/certified former international 

cricketers (male and female) recruited in the immediate 

past number of years now totals 15, and this includes 

our recently-appointed new Proteas coach, Gary Kirsten, 

who was a candidate on the 2007 course. 

The 2010 Level III candidates have all completed 

the majority of the evaluation requirements and are 

currently busy with their practical assessments, which 

should be finalised by the middle of August to allow 

certification before the start of this year’s Level III, 

scheduled for 7th to 11th September. In addition to 

these two nationally conducted courses, a total of 61 

Level I and 15 Level II coaching courses were held in the 

provinces and regions to help cater for their respective 

needs countrywide. 

Way back in 2004/5, the Coaches Academy became 

aware of the Canadian Long Term Athlete Development 

model (Canadian Sport for Life) for late specialisation 

sports and with the permission of the ECB, who had 

already incorporated and applied these principles to 

their structures, adopted the disciplines into our own 

coach education framework. 

It was thus a natural extension of this initial step, 

for CSA to align itself with the SASCOC Long Term 

Participant Development procedure and develop a 

more comprehensive development framework. CSA is 

one of 14 National Federations that have been part of 

the first wave of this SASCOC project.

The belief behind Long Term Athlete Development 

is that it takes 8-12 years of training and practice for 

a player to reach elite levels and that success comes 

from training, practicing and competing well over the 

long term rather than focusing on winning in the short 

term. There is simply no short cut to success in player 

preparation! 

The LTPD model provides the rational justification for 

enhancing our current structure but it can also provide 

some solutions to any weaknesses in the system that 

may be identified. Development of talent must 

always look beyond the short-term and 

plan for the future. 

Finally, the concept of appointing 

coaching mentors and conducting 

evening forums at national 

tournaments has continued and 

together with the positive 

effect of the CAP camps, have 

undoubtedly contributed towards 

the upliftment of coaches and the 

standard of coaching. 

31

Dominic Hendricks of the Lions sets  
off for a run during day 1 of the 
SuperSport series match between 
Highveld Lions and Chevrolet Warriors.

Cricket South Africa 

(CSA) continues 

to make strides in 

terms of equipping 

coaches at various 

levels with the 

necessary skills to 

mentor players. 

The model for 

Long Term Coach 

Development runs 

parallel to that of 

Long Term Athlete 

or Participant Development, and ideally provides the 

necessary support to ensure thorough and proper 

development of players and coaches at all levels. 

Continuous revision of coaching course material and 

the actual structures is a key aspect of the Coaching 

Department in general and the Coaches Academy in 

particular. The CSA National Cricket Academy as an 

elite player development programme is another major 

responsibility. 

The main features of coaching activities of the past 

twelve months have been captured and are presented 

below. 

CSA COACHES ACADEMY – 
“COACHING THE COACHES”

The CSA Coaches Academy is managed in consultation 

with the provincial coaching managers and the 

focus during the year in review has been firmly on 

“Standardisation, Uniformity and Compliance” and 

“Striving for Excellence”. 

It has been a period in which the Academy has 

continued to align the various course structures, syllabi 

and curricula against the minimum benchmarks and 

guidelines of the ICC as well as the requirements of the 

SA Coaching Framework currently being developed by 

SASCOC. 

From a development perspective, there are also 

a number of coaching-related aspects and issues 

contained in CSA’s strategy for the next four years that 

CSa CoaChing going pLaCES

effectively guide and govern the activities and projects 

of the Academy via the affiliates, namely: 

		 Ongoing skills development through comprehensive 

training programmes;

		 The need for a holistic coaching programme;

		 Uniform development programme across the 

country;

		 Capacity building and creating windows of 

opportunity. 

With the above in mind, the major aim has been the 

consolidation and extension of the Coach Acceleration 

Programme (CAP) that was introduced in 2009/10, and 

encouraging the respective affiliates and associates 

to introduce and implement similar initiatives and 

activities at regional level. The very successful national 

CAP Camps were extended to all provincial age-groups 

in the past year and for the very first time, the junior 

U-13 and U-15 coaches responsible for teams attending 

the December national schools tournaments attended 

these training programmes at the High Performance 

Centre (HPC) in Pretoria. 

The major difference between these camps and 

actual coaching courses is the concentration on 

the development of the ‘people skills’ of coaches as 

opposed to the more technical, playing issues and 

to provide additional tools to assist coaches in their 

specific roles and responsibilities. This has not impacted 

negatively in any way on the more formal training 

and qualification of coaches but rather enhanced the 

overall process, and there has already been a marked 

improvement in the standard of coaches and coaching 

at the cricket weeks. The affiliates and associates have 

been most innovative with their regional acceleration 

programmes and are to be commended with the 

progress in this regard. 

The pool of available Level IV coaches in South Africa 

increased by 10 during the year under review. All the 

candidates reported on in the previous review were 

certified in 2010/11 after successfully completing 

the highest cricket coaching qualification and 

congratulations go to the following coaches: Shafiek 

Abrahams, Piet Botha, Sarel Cilliers, Yashin Ebrahim, 

Rafeek Ismail, Lawrence Mahatlane, Barney Mohamed, 

Salieg Nackerdien, Adri Swanepoel and Henry 

Williams. 
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Richards (captain), Chetty, 

Hendricks, Hume and 

Mofokeng were all members of 

the 2010 SA U/19 World Cup squad 

in New Zealand and have showed 

immense promise in their own right. 

Hendricks (player of the tournament) and 

Hume (best bowler) produced exceptional 

performances at age-group level while Piedt 

and Bavuma impressed enough during the 

past 2010/11 domestic season to secure spots in 

the Emerging Players Squad that toured Australia 

towards the end of July while still at the Academy. 

Simetu was the recipient of the 2009 Khaya Majola Coca 

Cola Week player of the tournament while Paterson 

only recently received the CSA Amateur award, so all in 

all, another good crop in the making!  

A further, significant feature of this particular squad 

of 17 is that it contains no fewer than 6 Black African 

cricketers, who have added their names to a growing 

list of potential Makhaya Ntini’s, Lonwabo Tsotsobe’s, 

Loots Bosman’s and Mfuneko Ngam’s and their progress 

especially at provincial and/or franchise level will be 

closely monitored and eagerly observed in the coming 

seasons. 

The signs are certainly most encouraging and the 

cricket pipeline seems to be flowing stronger than ever. 

The integration and alignment of our structures and 

respective development programmes is critical as 

we continually strive to be a truly national sport of 

winners and pursue excellence at all levels of the 

game.

Something that applies directly to 

coaching is the following quote from 

Archbishop Desmond Tutu: “One of the 

greatest gifts we can give to another 

generation is our experience, our wisdom”. 

However, this is not confined to coaching 

or coaches. The very same can apply to 

all servants of the game, whether we are 

administrators, teachers or officials and we  

would do well to remember these wise words 

and our role as custodians of  

the game. 

Anton Ferreira

Lenert van Wyk during 
the MTN40 match 

between bizhub Highveld 
Lions and Nashua Cape 

Cobras.
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CSA NATIONAL CRICKET ACADEMY

After the enforced suspension of the annual National 

Academy programme last year as a result of the strict 

security regulations governing the 2010 FIFA World 

Cup, this extremely important and very successful elite 

player development programme resumed operations 

in 2011. 

A squad of 20 young provincial/franchise cricketers 

from around the country were originally selected in 

January to attend this intensive and comprehensive off-

season training programme at the High Performance 

Centre in Pretoria, but it will only be a group of 17 

that will eventually ‘graduate’ as members of the 15th 

Academy intake at the end of August. A couple of the 

invited players withdrew from the squad due to study 

commitments, while a serious injury also resulted in 

another being sent back to his province following the 

initial medical assessments to have his rehabilitation 

monitored by the franchise medical team. 

This year’s programme kicked-off with a ‘proficiency 

tour’ of the sub-continent during April and early May 

that formed part of a reciprocal tour agreement that 

CSA entered into with the Bangladesh Cricket Board 

a number of years ago. The 3-week tour consisted 

of a series of matches in all the formats of the game 

that were fiercely contested throughout, and our 

boys produced some notable individual and team 

performances. In the end, there was very little to choose 

between the two sides as the 4-day series was drawn 

1-all, while we won the ‘ODI’ series 2-1 before our hosts 

were victorious in both T20 outings. 

The candidates concluded the first 7-week cycle on 

Friday 24th June before their mid-term recess, and 

recommenced the programme on 11th July. The second 

cycle generally focuses on the practical aspects and 

putting ‘theory into practice’ after completion of the 

following first-phase facets: 

 

		 comprehensive medical screening and fitness 

evaluations;

		 psychological profiling, nutritional & visual skills 

assessments;

		 intensive 6-week strength & conditioning programme;

		 introduction to sports law & career planning;

		 psychological skills enhancement;

		 life skills training – 9 modules;

		 technique/video analysis; 

		 general cricket awareness sessions.

CSA once again hosted our Bangladeshi counterparts 

in a return series that allowed the aspiring Proteas 

to gauge their skill improvement and overall growth 

through the winter months. This time our boys took 

on the Bangladesh National Academy on more familiar 

terms and conditions. Whatever the outcome, these 

reciprocal tours deliver on the High Performance 

strategy of creating opportunities and preparing our 

budding cricketers for the demands and requirements 

at senior representative and ultimately international 

competition, by exposing them to unfamiliar conditions 

and foreign playing styles. 

The Sunfoil Dolphins Academy accepted an invitation 

to visit and assist the Academy squad to prepare for 

the fixtures against Bangladesh, and this in turn also 

provided several other young provincial cricketers the 

chance to experience the outstanding training and 

playing facilities and high performance environment 

that the HPC offers, and this will undoubtedly prove 

mutually beneficial. Additional warm-up games were 

also scheduled against the Emerging Squad prior to 

them leaving for Brisbane, Australia for the 2011 edition 

of the quadrangular Emerging Players Tournament 

(EPT). 

The 2011 Academy squad consists of the following 

candidates:

Temba Bavuma – Gauteng

Patrick Botha – Free State

Cody Chetty – KZN

Marchant de Lange – Easterns

Dominic Hendricks – Gauteng

Graham Hume – Gauteng

Lerutla Masekela – Northerns

Samuel Mofokeng – Northerns

Lefa Mosena – Free State

Dane Paterson –  Western Province (subsequently 

signed by Dolphins)

Dane Piedt – Western Province

Josh Richards – Northerns

Christiaan Schoeman – Northerns

Malusi Siboto –  North West (subsequently 

signed by Free State)

Siyabulela Simetu – Western Province

Romano Terblanche – Free State

Lenert van Wyk – Boland
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Dean Elgar of SA ‘A’ 
in his innings of 41 
during the 4th One 
Day International 
match between 
South Africa ‘A’ and 
Bangladesh.

Vernon Philander of 
South Africa ‘A’ during 
the 2nd One Day 
International match 
between South Africa ‘A’ 
and Bangladesh.

The SA ”A” side toured Zimbabwe in 2011 to participate 

in a triangular between Australia ”A” and a Zimbabwe 

X1 as part of the ongoing HPP strategy. Unfortunately 

the T20 Challenge scheduled to be held in Kuala 

Lumpur during July 2011 was cancelled.

As part of the ongoing HPP strategy to expose our 

young talent to international competition, CSA sent 

an Emerging Players team to Brisbane, Australia. This 

was the fifth year of CSA’s involvement in the 

prestigious tournament for young up and 

coming talent from Australia, South Africa, 

India and New Zealand. The tournament 

is used to introduce young talent to 

international competition and then to 

expose them to their various National teams. 

This tournament and the SA ”A” tours are very 

important in exposing our next generation 

players to the 50 over limited game as South 

Africa does not play this format anymore. While 

the 50 over ODIs are still played, it is important that 

CSA expose the next generation to this format during 

these tours.

Corrie van Zyl

In keeping with 

the theme of 

providing only 

the best for the 

next generation 

of Proteas players, 

the Cricket South 

Africa (CSA) High 

Performance 

Programme (HPP) 

introduced  

cutting-edge 

technologies 

that will aid in the 

development of players and their skills.

The Video Analysis Laboratory was established with 

the aim of supporting all national teams in their 

preparations for upcoming tours. The laboratory 

will capture all live matches with the sole purpose 

of compiling video footage and analysis of this 

footage. The analysed footage will then be tagged to 

a comprehensive opposition analysis system that will 

be hosted and viewed via the Performax system. This 

offline version of Performax is a unique way of looking 

at statistical analysis and the accompanying video 

footage. This provides support to all teams in the CSA 

professional structure in order for them to do their 

opposition analysis more efficiently. 

Along with the technology, plans for a well equipped 

CSA indoor centre have been drawn up and will form 

the hub of all coaching within the CSA structure. The 

centre will host office space for CSA coaching staff and 

support personnel, a biomechanical and video analysis 

laboratory as well as a lecture room. 

The Performax Athlete Management System was 

introduced two seasons ago and has improved the 

HPP’s efforts of monitoring CSA contacted players 

as well as other identified players. The system has 

grown tremendously during the last year and is at 

the stage where it can be fully introduced in the CSA 

cricket structure during the 2011/12 season, from 

the semi professional stage through to the National 

team. The application of the system caters for the 

complete management of a cricketer and gives 

everybody involved with the cricketer’s career, instant 

yet controlled access to his profile in order to give him 

the best opportunity to grow into the player he was 

identified to be.

The key identification of potential players is what drives 

the HPP and each season more players are identified 

to enter the programme. The respective tours give the 

selected players the opportunity to experience foreign 

conditions and to expose the skills needed to perform 

in those conditions. A prime example was the SA “A’ 

tours of Sri Lanka and Bangladesh. The tours were 

planned with the aim of exposing specific players to 

conditions that would resemble those of the sub-

continent where the ICC Cricket World Cup would be 

held, and gave the selectors the opportunity to assess 

which players could perform under the conditions with 

the view of possible selection for the Proteas squad. 

Russell Domingo was the head coach on the tour to 

Bangladesh and with that showed why he is one of the 

rising domestic coaches. It was very evident that the 

players related well to Russell and that he got the best 

out of them on this tour. South Africa has not played 

the 50 over ODI format in the domestic season for the 

past two seasons and the exposure to this format was 

crucial during the respective SA ”A” tours. South Africa 

played West Indies A in the final of the Triangular Series 

and were pushed by a quality West Indian outfit that 

included a few Internationals. 

Corrie van Zyl accompanied the SA ”A” team to Sri Lanka 

in August 2010, while he was still the head coach of the 

Proteas. This was part of the national selection strategy 

to see firsthand the performances of specific players on 

the tour, with the 2011 World Cup in mind. The SA ”A” 

team performed well against tough opposition from 

both Sri Lanka A and Pakistan A. The team showed 

exceptional application and skill and played very good 

cricket to first eliminate Pakistan from the race to the 

final and then to beat Sri Lanka convincingly in the final, 

chasing a challenging total on a very dry pitch.

The SA “A” side hosted Bangladesh in April 2011 as 

part of a reciprocal tour. Although this tour was after a 

gruelling domestic season, the A side once again was 

the dominant force between the two countries winning 

the two match “Test” series 1-0, (one washed out test) 

and the ODI series 3 – 1. Again this side was coached 

by Russell Domingo and captained for the first time by 

Jacques Rudolph. 

CUTTing-EDgE TEChnoLogY For high pErFormanCE programmE
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Herschelle Gibbs during 
the Standard Bank 
Pro20 match between 
Nashua Dolphins and 
Nashua Mobile Cape 
Cobras.

past the higher log position and the  

prospect of two out of three semi-final  

matches at home were deemed to be vital.  

It now seems that it may be better to have  

the advantage of playing the first match at  

home and thus putting the pressure on the  

opposition to face a ‘must win’ second leg.

In all four matches the home side won the first leg and 

then proceeded to win the second away leg as well. 

As it was the Standard Bank Pro20 Final was contested 

between the sides that finished third and fourth on the 

log.

This latter competition continues to be hugely 

successful drawing far and away the biggest crowds 

on the domestic circuit. There was a virtual sell-out 

at Sahara Park Newlands for the final days before the 

match with a crowd in excess of 16 000 in attendance.

Qualification for the Champions’ League has become an 

important sub-plot to this competition and it helps to 

sustain public interest.

The Cobras and the Warriors were the two teams to 

get through to the final and they will thus be Cricket 

South Africa’s two representatives in this showpiece 

international event. Because of the World Cup most 

of the top Protea players were not available for 

the domestic semi-final and final which made the 

achievements of the Cobras and the Warriors all 

the more praiseworthy as they were also the major 

contributing franchises to the World Cup squad.

A feature of the past season has been the highly 

encouraging number of young players performing 

impressively at domestic level and pushing for 

promotion to the various national squads. Nowhere 

was this better illustrated than in the Standard Bank 

Pro20 final in which Richard Levi, opening with the 

experienced Herschelle Gibbs, hit 45 off 34 balls during 

an awesome opening stand of 88 in nine overs.

The Warriors, chasing down 167 for victory – always 

a difficult task under lights at this venue – found 

themselves in all kinds of trouble until Kelly Smuts 

smashed an unbeaten 56 off 32 balls to claim the 

Standard Bank Master Blaster Batting award. It was not 

enough to turn the game around for the Warriors – the 

Cobras won by 12 runs – but it was about as sensational 

The Nashua Mobile Cape Cobras emulated the 

performance of the Chevrolet Warriors the previous 

season in winning two of the three domestic trophies 

on offer during the course of the 2010/11 summer.

While the Warriors had won both the limited overs 

trophies the Cobras achieved more varied success. They 

retained the four-day SuperSport Series title and won the 

Standard Bank Pro20 title as well. The Chevrolet Knights – 

the new name for the Central Franchise – were the other 

successful franchise, winning the MTN40 competition.

The Cobras’ successes were well merited. They set 

out their stall early in the SuperSport Series gaining 

an important away victory over the Nashua Titans at 

Sahara Willowmoore Park. This was a fixture that had 

always caused them trouble in the past and represented 

a significant turnaround in their fortunes.

This was the only match they won out of the first group 

of four but that position was not altogether of their own 

making as they piled up a total in excess of 400 against 

the Warriors at Buffalo Park, only to see the rest of the 

match washed out.

The Titans, in spite of their loss to the Cobras, won two 

of their first four matches to emerge as front runners 

but the eventual champions turned things around 

decisively in the second half of their campaign in much 

the same manner as they had done the previous season. 

They won four of their remaining six fixtures, including 

the return home match against the Titans, and there 

was little doubt that they were the best team when it 

came to four-day cricket.

In between their two successes they suffered an 

inexplicable loss of form in the MTN40, losing their first 

five matches in a row to give themselves no chance at 

all of reaching the semi-finals. 

There were several important changes to the MTN40 

playing conditions. The most significant of these was 

to bring the competition more in line with ODI cricket 

in a World Cup year and this resulted in a significant 

reduction in the number of power play overs.

The six franchises were also split into two sections 

based on the previous season’s finishing positions with 

each franchise playing a double round against the 

teams in their own section and a single round of cross-

section fixtures. This reduced the number of qualifying 

games for each team from 10 to seven but did allow a 

return of the two-leg semi-final format.

In spite of the loss of power play overs there was little 

effect on the totals posted with aggregates of 600 runs 

in a match not being uncommon. The Nashua Dolphins, 

for instance, piled up 311/6 thanks to a typical Loots 

Bosman contribution (150 off 86 balls) to which the 

Chevrolet Warriors replied with 289 all out.

The Titans piled up 310/4 in their league match against 

the bizhub Highveld Lions and then had a successful 

runs chase of 300/7 to win their first leg semi-final 

against the same opponents. The Titans made 287/8 in 

their second leg semi-final and that only just got them 

home by a winning margin of 11 runs.

The Knights had a slightly less spectacular run to the 

final against the Dolphins but then walloped the Titans 

in a one-sided final by 8 wickets.

This match was affected by the weather and after the 

Titans had been dismissed for 227 in 39 overs the 

Knights made light work of their adjusted target of 152 

in 23 overs, getting home with 8 balls to spare. Had they 

batted the full 40 overs there is no knowing just what 

sort of target they would have posted.

Morne van Wyk was very much the man for the moment 

for the Knights. He had been way off form for most of 

the competition but he was named Man of the Match 

in both the second-leg semi-final against the Dolphins 

(109 off 103 balls) and again in the final (85 not out off 

70 balls).

It was a trend that was to dog the Titans throughout the 

season. They were beaten finalists in the MTN40, finished 

runners up for the SuperSport Series and came within a 

run of at least taking the Cobras to a third leg semi-final 

in the Standard Bank Pro20. Instead they had to witness 

the Cobras chasing down a record score to win.

It was an interesting feature that none of the four semi-

finals in the two knock-out competitions went to a third 

leg and this may require a tactical re-appraisal. In the 

CoBraS anD warriorS DominaTE DomESTiC proFESSionaL CriCKET



a debut as any player can make. It was Smuts’ debut in 

Pro20 cricket and to do so in an important final as well 

was something special.

Levi was certainly one of the players of the tournament. 

He made three 50s in eight visits to the crease and had 

a strike rate of 145.

The emergence of young players was a feature across 

all three competitions. Faf du Plessis hit three centuries 

in the MTN40 including one in the final to follow the 

example of Colin Ingram from the previous season in 

batting his way into the Proteas’ squad.

Du Plessis had previously not been available for the 

Proteas because of his Kolpak contract with Lancashire 

and another player who fell into the same category was 

his Titans team mate and captain Jacques Rudolph who 

was the leading runs scorer in the SuperSport Series.

The same applied to Imran Tahir of the Dolphins who 

had not been available for the Proteas for different 

reasons but had an outstanding season to be the 

leading wicket taker in the SuperSport Series. It was 

a no brainer that he would be chosen for the Proteas 

once his qualification came through on the first day of 

the new year.

Two of the most remarkable SuperSport Series debuts 

came on the penultimate round of the campaign and 

played huge roles in the Cobras’ trophy-winning victory 

over the Titans. Yaseen Vallie hit 163 in the first innings 

and then 79 in the second in a runs chase against the 

clock. This second innings followed a magnificent 

performance by off spinner Dane Piedt who took 7/92 – 

the best individual bowling performance of the entire 

summer!

There was also a remarkable finish to the season for 

another 21-year-old – Obus Pienaar of the Knights. In 

his last three innings he made 119 against the Dolphins 

and then 212 and 67 against the Titans.

One way and another it was another season of high 

performance in domestic cricket and one that gives 

considerable grounds for optimism on the road ahead.

Kelly Smuts from the 
Warriors attacks a delivery 
for six during the Standard 
Bank Pro20 final match.
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The Cape Cobras, 
winners of the 
Standard Bank Pro20.

The Cape Cobras coach Richard Pybus 
and captain Justin Kemp with the 
winning SuperSport trophy.
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The Knights celebrate their victory during the MTN40 final 
match between Nashua Titans and Chevrolet Knights.

MTN40 2010/11

As at 11 December 2010

pool a p w L Tied nr Bonus penalty pts net rr

Nashua Titans 7 6 1 0 0 2 0 26 0.84

Chevrolet Knights 7 3 4 0 0 1 0 13 0.11

Chevrolet Warriors 7 2 5 0 0 0 0 8 –0.76

pool B p w L Tied nr Bonus penalty pts net rr

Nashua Dolphins 7 4 3 0 0 2 0 18 0.60

bizhub Highveld Lions 7 4 3 0 0 1 0 17 –0.03

Nashua Cape Cobras 7 2 5 0 0 0 0 8 –0.66

Standard Bank Pro20 2010/11

As at 19 March 2011

Team p w L Tied nr Bonus penalty pts net rr

Nashua Dolphins 5 4 1 0 0 0 0 16 –0.10

Nashua Titans 5 3 2 0 0 1 0 13 0.63

Nashua Cape Cobras 5 3 2 0 0 0 0 12 0.13

Chevrolet Warriors 5 3 2 0 0 0 0 12 –0.07

bizhub Highveld Lions 5 1 3 0 1 0 1 5 –0.10

Chevrolet Knights 5 0 4 0 1 0 0 2 –0.69

Cape Cobras finish ahead of Warriors by virtue of winning the match between them.

SuperSport Series 2010/11

As at 3 April 2011

Team p w L Tied D Bat Bowl penalty pts

Nashua Cape Cobras 10 5 0 0 5 37.44 26 0 113.44

Nashua Titans 10 3 3 0 4 41.90 31 0 102.90

bizhub Highveld Lions 10 2 1 0 7 40.28 27 0 87.28

Nashua Dolphins 10 2 4 0 4 26.04 31 0 77.04

Chevrolet Knights 10 1 2 0 7 33.82 26 0 69.82

Chevrolet Warriors 10 1 4 0 5 24.28 26 0 60.28

Bonus points are awarded an the first 100 overs of each team’s first innings as follows:

Batting: 1 point on reaching 150 and 0.02 points for each run thereafter.

Bowling: 1 point for taking 3 wkts, 2 for 5 wkts, 3 for 7 wkts and 4 for 9 wkts.

DomESTiC CriCKET STaTiSTiCS

Supplied by Andrew Samson, Official Statistician of Cricket South Africa
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Garnett Kruger and 
Makhaya Ntini of the 
Warriors during the 2010 
Airtel Champions League 
Twenty20 final match.

Lions players celebrate the 
wicket of Robin Uthappa of 
the Challengers.

WARRIORS AND LIONS DO CSA DOMESTIC CRICKET PROUD

Indians on the back of an excellent innings from 

Jonathan Vandiar. But they were not able to sustain 

their challenge even though their games were evenly 

contested.

The star of the tournament from a South African 

perspective was Davy Jacobs who not only proved to 

be an inspirational captain of the Warriors but was also 

the second leading runs scorer with 286 at an average 

of 47 and a strike rate of 145. It was not surprising that 

Mumbai contracted him for the fourth edition of the IPL 

on the strength of these stellar performances.

Others who caught the eye sufficiently to gain lucrative 

IPL deals were Vandiar and Robbie Frylinck of the Lions 

who had an astonishing batting strike rate of 235 which 

was the third highest in the competition.

It was a good tournament for two of the Lions’ senior 

players. Alviro Petersen had an average of 56 and the 

eighth highest strike rate of 154 while Neil McKenzie 

averaged 55 with a strike rate of 141.

The Warriors’ international bowling trio of Johan Botha, 

Lonwabo Tsotsobe and Rusty Theron also excelled. They 

took 19 wickets between them and had a combined 

economy rate of less than 7 runs to the over. Theron 

was joint fifth leading wickettaker with 8 dismissals 

while Botha was one of only eight bowlers to have an 

outstanding economy rate of less than 6.

One of the emerging talents to catch the eye was Ethan 

O’Reilly of the Lions who returned the fourth best 

bowling performance of the tournament of 4/27.

The Warriors will have another crack at the Champions’ 

League in September 2011, where they will proudly 

carry the flag of CSA’s domestic brand along with the 

Nashua Mobile Cape Cobras.
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The Chevrolet Warriors and the bizhub Highveld Lions 

did Cricket South Africa (CSA) proud in the second 

edition of the Champions’ League which South Africa 

hosted for the first time in September, 2010.

It was another superb example of CSA’s ability to host 

major international events flawlessly with four of the 

country’s six major venues being used. The Warriors 

and the Lions played at their home grounds of Axxess 

DSL St. George’s and Bidvest Wanderers Stadium 

respectively while Sahara Stadium Kingsmead and 

SuperSport Park were also used.

The format of the competition splits the 10 competing 

teams from six International Cricket Council (ICC) Full 

Member Countries into two pools with the top two from 

each pool qualifying for the semi-finals.

The Warriors demonstrated the strength of South 

African domestic cricket by reaching the semi-finals 

where they scored an emphatic victory over the South 

Australian Redbacks. They then lost the final to the 

powerful Indian Premier League (IPL) franchise, the 

Chennai Super Kings.

The Kings had previously beaten the Warriors in the 

Pool phase and were, in fact, the only team to conquer 

the men from the Eastern Cape. It was particularly 

pleasing to see the men from the Eastern Cape beat 

both their opponents from Australia on the way to the 

final.

Another remarkable feature of the Warriors’ success was 

that they had to do without the services of Jacques Kallis 

who was contracted to the Royal Challengers Bangalore.

The Lions, who were arguably in the tougher of the two 

pools as it included the other two IPL representatives, 

made a magnificent start when they beat the Mumbai 

The Kings celebrate during the 
2010 Airtel Champions League 
Twenty20 final.



he was only one week short of the 13th anniversary 

of his first appearance for the Proteas on the 

international stage against New Zealand at the Waca 

on January 16, 1998.

He was 20 years old at the time and it would have 

been a daunting experience for most youngsters of 

that age, particularly considering his general lack 

of experience even at domestic level. But Makhaya 

has always been up for the challenge and he could 

hardly have hoped for a better start than to claim 

New Zealand captain Stephen Fleming as his first 

international dismissal.

His Test match debut followed against Sri Lanka two 

months later – he was still only 20 – at Sahara Park 

Newlands and there he again started his Test career 

with another big wicket in the form of Aravinda de Silva. 

In both the cases of Fleming and De Silva his partner in 

the dismissal was Mark Boucher who was a couple of 

months past his 21st birthday.

The two had got to know each other as team mates 

in Border age group sides and as opponents in the 

traditional fixtures between two school powerhouses, 

Dale College and Selborne College. Together they 

would go on to make more than a century of combined 

dismissals in the three formats of the international 

game.

From Sri Lanka at Newlands Ntini went on to claim 

a four-wicket haul in only his fourth Test match 

against England at Trent Bridge and then a career-

best six-wicket haul against New Zealand on an 

unforgiving pitch in Bloemfontein. Coincidentally 

that match also produced Allan Donald’s 300th Test 

match wicket.

But, with Donald starting to fade and Ntini on the rise, 

it was clear that a new fast bowling star had been born 

for the Proteas. He went on to become the leader of the 

attack and to play a major role in bringing the likes of 

Dale Steyn, Morne Morkel, Wayne Parnell and Lonwabo 

Tsotsobe through to where they are today.

Makhaya is now filled with a new passion to develop 

his own academy and give future generations of South 

African cricketers, particularly those from the rural 

areas, a smoother ride to the top – one not strewn with 

the obstacles that he successfully negotiated.

It is clear that he still has an enormous role to play in 

South African cricket.
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maKhaYa’S moSES maBhiDa momEnT
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It was not quite a case of out with the old and in with 

the new because Makhaya Ntini will remain the torch 

bearer of the brand that Cricket South Africa (CSA) 

wants to create for itself in spite of the fact that his 

international playing career has come to an end.

Makhaya has been a winner throughout his life not only 

for what he has achieved on the cricket field but more 

importantly for the manner in which he has overcome 

some almost superhuman obstacles to get to the top 

and in the process has become an inspiration for the 

entire nation.

The farewell tribute to Ntini (and to Sachin Tendulkar) 

in the one-off Standard Bank International Pro20 at the 

magnificent Moses Mabhida Stadium was an occasion 

of huge significance. There were the obvious facts 

that it attracted the biggest crowd ever (more than 

50 000 people) to watch a cricket match on the African 

continent and that it was played against India who have 

been South Africa’s oldest and original opponents since 

unity.

There was also the launch of the concept of cricket 

combining with Bollywood-style entertainment to 

take the game to an even wider audience. For all these 

reasons there is no doubt that this fixture has come to 

stay. The Moses Mabhida Stadium may not be perfect 

for cricket but any imperfections that exist there melt 

away easily when one looks at the bigger picture.

A less obvious fact was that this match 

commemorated the 150th anniversary of the arrival 

of people of Indian origin to settle in South Africa and 

that, of course, had a symbolism that went far beyond 

that particular moment in history. It immediately 

brings to mind names such as Mahatma Gandhi not 

to mention our own much revered former president 

Nelson Mandela.

Those people of Indian descent like the bulk of the 

population, had to wait a long time to get their freedom 

and there was thus much more to celebrate than a 

simple game of cricket or watching one of our greatest 

heroes bowl his last ball and ride off into sunset.

The match also commemorates the name of one of our 

great cricket administrators and the Krish Mackerdhuj 

Trophy will become one of the most respected pieces 

of silverware that the Proteas will want to get back 

from India (the visitors won the inaugural match by 21 

runs) the next time the two teams meet in the Pro20 

format.

It was the late and great Malcolm Marshall of the West 

Indies (coincidentally the cricketer whom Makhaya 

most admires and on whom he has modelled his 

action) who once said that longevity was an essential 

part of any sportsperson aspiring to greatness. 

Makhaya certainly passes that test with flying colours. 

When he took his final curtain call at Moses Mabhida, 

The first South African 
cricket team to tour abroad 
after unity in the early 90’s.
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One of the standout features is that the Proteas 

perform magnificently as individuals as can be seen 

from the achievements recorded on a personal level 

but struggle to put it together as a team. This is the 

major issue that will have to be addressed going 

forward. There will be important changes in the 

leadership structure with the appointment of a new 

national coach plus a new captain for the ODI format 

of the game following the decision of Graeme Smith 

to stand down from that position at the conclusion of 

the World Cup.

Johan Botha had already taken over from him as 

captain of the Pro20 format at the start of the season 

under review. Smith also had to carry the load without 

the support of an official vice-captain and that is 

another important position that needs to be filled.

The Proteas have also lost two of their stalwarts of 

the past decade and a half and tribute needs to be 

paid to their enormous contribution. Makhaya Ntini 

announced his retirement from international cricket 

after a career that saw him take 390 Test wickets in 101 

matches and become one of the country’s leading role 

models and its most popular sportsman. He remains 

a champion of the people and an inspiration to those 

who have to overcome personal disadvantage to 

reach the top.

Herschelle Gibbs also dropped out of the international 

scene after a magnificent career that included 21 

ODI centuries and 14 in Test match cricket. He was an 

inspirational figure not so much for the number of 

runs he made or the brilliance he showed in the field 

as Jonty Rhodes’ successor at backward point and 

short midwicket but for the manner in which he made 

them and the flair he brought to the game. His innings 

of 175 in the ‘438’ game remains one of the great 

knocks in the history of ODI cricket.

Fortunately both these gifted players have remained 

part of the domestic game as they have much  

to offer the stars of tomorrow.
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Johan Botha shakes hands with 
Zimbabwean Captain Elton Chigumbura.

The Proteas suffered major disappointments for 

the second year in a row when they failed to 

get past their opening knock-out match at the 

2011 ICC Cricket World Cup and also had to 

settle for a 1-1 draw in the home Test series 

against India.

Statistically it was a reasonable season as 

the following playing record shows:

Pro20 International: played 5, won 4, lost 1

ODI (including the World Cup): played 20, won 14, lost 6

ODI (World Cup only): played 7, won 5, lost 2

Tests: played 5, won 1, drawn 3, lost 1

ICC Test ranking: 2

ICC ODI ranking: 4

But two of the games they did lose revealed an 

alarming ability to lose the games that really count. 

Having gone 1-0 up in the Castle Test series against 

India with a massive victory by an innings and 25 runs 

at SuperSport Park they then lost the second at Sahara 

Stadium Kingsmead by 87 runs.

At the World Cup they seemed to have set themselves 

up perfectly for a strong run at the title. They finished 

top of their group with 4 wins out of 5 and that 

included becoming the only side to beat the eventual 

champions, India, in a memorable match. But they 

then came unstuck in their quarter-final against New 

Zealand and were well beaten when chasing down no 

more than a modest target.

What is equally worrying is that the Proteas 

have not won a Test series either at home or 

abroad against a major opponent since the 

2008/09 series in Australia. The batting is as 

strong as ever but the bowling depends too 

much on the new ball duo of Dale Steyn and 

Morne Morkel. In the India series they took 

36 wickets between them and the rest of the 

attack managed only 14.

The loss of Makhaya Ntini as a major strike 

bowler has left a big gap and there will 

have to be a fresh look at how the attack 

is balanced heading into the home series 

against Australia and Sri Lanka.

pUrE proTEa, 100% SoUTh aFriCan

Rusty Theron 
celebrates the wicket 
of Yusuf Pathan 
during Standard Bank 

Pro20 International 
match between 
South Africa and 

India.
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Tribute was paid to Ntini at the inaugural Krish 

Mackerdhuj Trophy match between South Africa and 

India at the magnificent Moses Mabhida Stadium in 

Durban in January. This match also commemorated 

the 150th anniversary of the arrival of people of Indian 

descent in South Africa and opened a new chapter 

of innovation in South African cricket with the mix of 

cricket and Bollywood-style entertainment.

It was also the first cricket match on the African 

continent to attract an audience of more than 50 000 

spectators.

There were many outstanding individual achievements 

during the year under review and the following are 

particularly noteworthy:

AB de Villiers was named ICC ODI Cricketer of the Year 

and made the South African Test record score of 278 

not out against Pakistan. During that innings he and 

Morne Morkel established a South African 10th wicket 

partnership record of 108, beating a record that had 

stood since 1929. De Villiers was also selected for the 

World Cup Team of the Tournament and is ranked No. 2 

on the ICC World ODI rankings. His century against India 

at SuperSport Park came off just 75 balls which is the 

fastest of all time for South Africa. He also became the 

second South African to score a century before lunch in 

a Test match.

Dale Steyn retained his ranking as the world’s No. 1 

bowler in Test cricket and is also ranked No. 4 in ODI 

cricket. He received the prestigious CricInfo award for 

the best bowling performance in Test cricket in 2010 

for his return of 7/51 against India in Nagpur and was 

selected for the World Cup Team of the Tournament. He 

was also the second leading wicket taker in Test cricket 

in the 2010 calendar year with 60 dismissals in only 11 

matches.

Hashim Amla scored more than 1 000 runs in both Test 

and ODI cricket in the 2010 calendar year, making a 

total of 10 centuries across the two formats. In 2011 he 

has already made more than 500 runs at an average 

of 50 with a strike rate of 90. He has become the No. 1 

ranked cricketer on the ICC ODI batting ratings.

Jacques Kallis became the second cricketer after India’s 

legendary Sachin Tendulkar to score 40 Test match 

centuries and he also became the first South African to 

score two centuries in a Test match 

on two occasions and the first to 

achieve the feat on home soil. 

His epic performance in the final 

Castle Test against India at Sahara 

Park Newlands was even more 

remarkable for the fact that he had 

to battle through a painful rib injury that 

left him in obvious discomfort and hampered 

his ability to play certain shots. It was a performance 

of the highest fortitude and he was deservedly named 

Castle Test Man of the Series. Kallis achieved one of 

his last outstanding milestones when he made an 

unbeaten double century in the first Test of the series 

at SuperSport Park. He remains the world’s No. 1 Test 

match all-rounder by a distance and is currently ranked 

joint No. 1 in Test cricket with Tendulkar.

Graeme Smith became South Africa’s most capped ODI 

captain during the course of the India series and went 

on to finish his captaincy career in this format of the 

game with 149 appearances. Coincidentally he made 

his captaincy debut in Bangladesh in 2003 and his last 

captaincy in the quarter-finals of the World Cup was in 

the same country.

The year under review also witnessed the emergence of 

several newcomers to the Proteas’ side who performed 

with distinction.

Imran Tahir’s debut had been long awaited and he did 

not disappoint at the World Cup taking 14 wickets at the 

tournament’s best average of 10.71 with an economy 

rate of 3.79. But his contribution went far beyond that. 

He breathed new life into the style of South Africa’s 

ODI cricket, enabling them to attack with spinners in 

the middle overs and keep the quick men fresh to bowl 

effectively at the death. It was also obvious that his 

contribution re-invigorated the captaincy of Smith.

Colin Ingram became the first South African 

to score a century on ODI debut (against 

Zimbabwe) when he had to fill the gigantic 

boots of Kallis and made another 

century in only his 4th appearance 

against Pakistan in the United Arab 

Emirates. He only made one World 

Cup appearance but it was an 

impressive one both with bat 

and in the field.
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Imran Tahir celebrates the wicket of 
Ramnaresh Sarwan of West Indies during the 
ICC Cricket World Cup match.
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Wayne Parnell plays a one-
handed shot during a match 
between SA and India.

Robin Peterson plays a reverse sweep 
during the Standard Bank Pro20 
match between SA and India.

Lonwabo Tsotsobe has been around for a while but this 

has been the first year that he has been a first choice 

for the Proteas in all formats. He finished the World 

Cup ranked No. 6 on the ICC ODI rankings and in the 

past 15 months has taken 33 wickets at an 

average in the low teens. He emulated the 

performance of Shaun Pollock in taking 

four-wicket hauls in back-to-back ODIs 

against India. 

Morne Morkel 

remained a key 

weapon for 

the Proteas in 

Test cricket, 

taking 49 

wickets in the 

2010 calendar 

year. He also 

took his ODI 

form to a new 

level and was 

named MTN 

Player of the 

Series against 

India after taking 

12 wickets at an 

average of 11.41 

with an economy rate 

of 3.70. He is ranked No. 5 

in ODI cricket and No. 4 in 

Test cricket.
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Graeme Smith hits the ball 
towards the boundary during 
the 2011 ICC World Cup 
match between Netherlands 
and South Africa.
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The Proteas’ dressing room and viewing area is not 

normally a very emotional place on the third morning 

of a Castle Test match. The five-day contest has not 

reached its halfway mark and the outcome is far from 

settled.

But you could have heard the proverbial penny drop on 

the morning of December 18, 2010. It was the build-

up to Jacques Kallis achieving one of the outstanding 

achievements of his outstanding career – his maiden 

Test double century. It is fair to say that virtually all the 

players scored the last 20 runs with him and it is also 

fair to say that there was hardly a dry eye among his 

colleagues when he threw his arms aloft in triumph and 

was smothered in the embrace of his batting partner, 

AB de Villiers.

In many ways it was fitting that the venue should  

be SuperSport Park and that his partner should be  

de Villiers. It inevitably cast one’s mind back five years to 

when the latter scored his maiden Test century against 

England at the same venue. Kallis was his partner at 

the time and played a major role in getting him across 

the line after he had thrown away a century in the first 

innings.

It is for this role that Kallis has seldom been given the 

credit that he deserves. But you only have to talk to 

the young guns who have learned how to play big Test 

innings around him such as De Villiers, Hashim Amla 

and the others to gain insight into what a great leader 

of the batting unit he has become and remains to this 

day and for the foreseeable future.

The question inevitably gets asked: Why did it take 

Jakes so long to achieve this landmark? The answer is 

probably two-fold. For much of his career he has had 

to hold a fragile line-up together which has forced 

him into a conservative game plan that has often seen 

him run out of partners. The second part is that the 

maturation of Amla and de Villiers, in particular, has 

given him the freedom to give full rein to the richness 

of his talent, knowing that, if he is dismissed, there are 

others to carry on the momentum.

It is no coincidence that the two centuries that made  

up his ‘double’ were the two fastest of his  

international career (130 balls and 137 balls).

December 18 was, of course, not just about Kallis. De 

Villiers made South Africa’s fastest Test century of all 

time (75 balls) and became the second South African 

after Tuppy Owen-Smith to score a century before lunch 

in a Test match. Coincidentally they both did it on the 

third morning.

But the partnership between Kallis and de Villiers went 

far beyond individual statistics. With a bit of help from 

Amla who scored 24 out of 36 runs made off the first 

five overs of the day, they were primarily responsible 

for the Proteas scoring a monumental 225 runs in the 

session. Even allowing for the fact that the session 

was longer than normal it was still a stupendous 

achievement. Their double century partnership came at 

the rate of a run a ball with the third 50 coming off only 

38 balls.

And let it not be forgotten that this was achieved not 

against some bunch of also-rans but against the No. 1 

ranked side in Test match cricket!

It was the most sustained spell of batting brilliance that 

this country has ever witnessed. The only comparable 

partnerships in terms of all-out attack are the 341 

that Graeme Pollock and Eddie Barlow put on against 

Australia in 1964 and the hour of brilliance that Pollock 

and Barry Richards produced at Kingsmead in 1970, also 

against Australia, when they added 101 runs.

Amla had scored a century the day before Kallis and de 

Villiers took centre stage and it is safe to say that these 

three have given the Proteas the best top middle-order 

this country has ever possessed.

ThE proTEaS’ grEaTEST momEnT oF SUSTainED BriLLianCE

AB de Villiers congratulates 
Jacques Kallis on reaching 
his maiden double century 
and the first 200 runs 
by a batsman scored at 
SuperSport Park, Centurion.
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but it’s more about helping them with their own 

personal tactics,” he said.

“For instance, I spent a lot of time with Suresh Raina 

while I was coaching India. He didn’t need any technical 

coaching – his technique is fantastic. What we worked 

on was his approach to the game, discussions about the 

conditions he was likely to face, that sort of thing.

“Each player requires a different approach. They are all 

individuals, with individual needs and problems. Your 

main job as coach is to understand the players and get 

the most out of them. 

“I see coaching as an opportunity to help people to 

become better cricketers,” he concluded.

Kirsten said he was looking forward to his time with the 

Proteas, which starts with a series against arch-rivals 

Australia in October and November.

“I’m really excited about 

that – I want to be able 

to make a difference,” 

he said. “It’s a great 

opportunity for me.”

Gary Kirsten with assistant coaches 
Russell Domingo and Allan Donald.

Gerald Majola and 
Gary Kirsten during the 
Cricket South Africa 
press conference.

CSa CoaChing programmES arE winnErS

Cricket South Africa’s (CSA) vision is to make cricket a 

truly national sport of winners. One way of achieving 

this objective is to keep as many players as possible 

involved in the game after their playing days are over, 

with coaching being an option.

Through its Coaching Academy, CSA has put in place a 

programme of coaching courses to ensure that the stars 

of the future have the best mentors possible.

Many former national and provincial players have gone 

through the various courses offered by the Academy, 

with the new Proteas coach Gary Kirsten a shining 

example.

Kirsten comes to the job of South African coach fresh 

from his success with India. With Kirsten at the helm, 

India established themselves as the number one Test 

nation and he was covered in glory when India won the 

Cricket World Cup in Mumbai earlier this year.

Kirsten, who has his own cricket academy, completed 

the Level Three coaching course in 2007. Level Three 

covers technical and tactical aspects of the game, 

and introduces the candidates to areas such as sports 

medicine, nutrition and biokinetics.

“With 101 Tests and 145 ODIs behind him, no-one 

would have challenged Gary’s credentials – in fact, we 

used him as a facilitator to give the other candidates 

the benefit of his experience and knowledge, but he 

saw the course as an opportunity to learn more about 

different aspects of the game,” said CSA Coaching 

Manager Anton Ferreira.

“We encourage players in the provincial and national 

set-ups to complete the courses we offer,” he said. “They 

can learn more about their own game, and it means 

they are also ready to move straight into coaching 

when they decide to hang up their boots. Also, for those 

wanting to play overseas, a coaching qualification is 

essential.”

Kirsten agreed that the coaching courses were 

invaluable for aspiring coaches.

“CSA offers a fairly rigorous programme, which gives 

you excellent grounding in broader aspects of the 

game, such as strategy, analysis and planning. I did the 

Level Three Course, and after I stopped playing, I spent 

two years with the High Performance Programme. This 

definitely helped me to develop as a coach,” he said.

A number of former national and provincial players 

such as Rudi Steyn, Kevin Commins, Omar Henry, Eric 

Simons, Henry Williams, Derek Crookes, Gary Kirsten, 

Daryll Cullinan, Paul Adams, Roger Telemachus, Shafiek 

Abrahams, Lance Klusener, Dave Callaghan, Linda 

Olivier, Suné van Zyl and Daleen Terblanche, have 

completed Level Three or Four, and two previous 

national coaches, Mickey Arthur and Corrie van Zyl, 

were both Level Four graduates.

“Gary’s Assistant Coach, Russell Domingo, is another 

person we’re very proud of,” said Ferreira. “Russell went 

through every level of our coaching programme, from 

Level One to Level Four, and he moved from coaching at 

a youth level to coaching at Border and then he became 

a very successful Warriors’ coach – and now he’s in the 

national structure.

“His successor at the Warriors, Piet Botha, is another 

who has moved successfully through our programme.”

Ferreira and Kirsten agreed it was not necessary for 

successful coaches to have played at the highest level.

“Russell is one example, and another is Graham Ford 

– he has been a very successful coach, despite never 

having made it as a cricketer. But his management skills 

are superb and that’s one of the reasons why he is such 

a good and sought after coach,” said Ferreira. 

“The best players don’t necessarily make the best 

coaches. You can have all the technical expertise and 

still not be a good coach,” agreed Kirsten. “But if you 

have the international experience, it does help because 

you know what the players are going through, what 

playing conditions are like and what it’s like to be away 

from home for long periods of time.”

He said coaching at international level was less about 

technique and more about tactics and game plans.

“You need to monitor international players and help 

them if they are having problems with their techniques, 
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ONE-DAY INTERNATIONALS

CSa/Standard Bank milestone programme achievements:

platinum None

gold None

Silver None

Bronze Charl Langeveldt 100 wickets v Pakistan (Abu Dhabi)

other Jacques Kallis 11 000 runs v Pakistan (Dubai)

passing the previous record of 98 by Jacques Kallis v 

Netherlands at Basseterre in 2007.

Jacques Kallis became South Africa’s most capped 

player in World Cup matches when he made his 32nd 

appearance in the match v England at Chennai. This 

passed the previous record of 31 by Shaun Pollock.

South Africa scored 300-7 v India at Nagpur, their 

highest total batting 2nd in a World Cup match, passing 

the previous best of 294 v Australia at Basseterre.

JP Duminy and Colin Ingram added a South African 

6th wicket World Cup record of 87 v Ireland at Kolkata, 

passing the previous record of 77 by Jacques Kallis and 

Shaun Pollock v Pakistan at Nottingham in 1999.

Jacques Kallis became South Africa’s leading run-scorer 

in World Cup matches during his 69 v Bangladesh at 

Mirpur, passing Herschelle Gibbs’ record of 1 067.

Morne van Wyk equalled Mark Boucher’s record of most 

dismissals by a wicket-keeper in a World Cup match for 

South Africa when he took 4 (all ct) v Ireland at Kolkata. 

Boucher took 4 (all ct) v Australia at Birmingham in 

1999.

PRO20 INTERNATIONALS

records

JP Duminy made the highest score for South Africa in 

Pro20 Internationals when he scored 96* v Zimbabwe 

at Kimberley, passing the previous record of 94 by Loots 

Bosman v England at Centurion in 2009/10.

records

Colin Ingram became the 1st South African and 6th 

player overall to register a century on Limited Overs 

International debut when he made 124 v Zimbabwe at 

Bloemfontein.

South Africa beat Zimbabwe by 272 runs at Benoni, the 

largest victory margin for South Africa in Limited Overs 

Internationals, passing the previous record of 221 runs 

v Netherlands at Basseterre in 2006/07. This is the 2nd 

largest margin overall.

The 3rd wicket partnership record for South Africa was 

broken twice during the season. Firstly, JP Duminy 

and AB de Villiers added 219 v Zimbabwe at Benoni, 

passing the previous record of 186 by Albie Morkel 

and AB de Villiers v Zimbabwe at Harare in 2007. 

Then Hashim Amla and AB de Villiers added 221 

v Netherlands at Mohali, to pass the record set by 

Duminy and de Villiers.

Hashim Amla became the quickest player to reach 2 000 

Limited Overs runs when he reached the milestone 

during his 64 v India at Port Elizabeth. This was his 40th 

innings, passing the previous record of 45 by England’s 

Kevin Pietersen.

Imran Tahir took the best figures on World Cup debut 

for South Africa with 4-41 v West Indies at Delhi. The 

previous best was 3-34 by Allan Donald v Australia at 

Sydney in 1992.

AB de Villiers scored the fastest World Cup century 

for South Africa off 88 balls v Netherlands at Mohali, 

Sa inTErnaTionaL miLESTonES
1 July 2010 to 30 April 2011

TEST CRICKET

CSa/Castle Lager milestone programme achievements:

platinum None

gold None

Silver None

Bronze Hashim Amla 50 Tests v India (Durban)

 Paul Harris 100 wickets v India (Centurion)

 Morne Morkel 100 wickets v India (Centurion)

other None

records

AB de Villiers made the highest Test score for South 

Africa when he scored 278* v Pakistan at Abu Dhabi, 

passing the previous record of 277 by Graeme Smith v 

England at Birmingham in 2003.

AB de Villiers and Morne Morkel added a South African 

record 107* for the 10th wicket against Pakistan at Abu 

Dhabi, passing the previous record of 103 by Tuppy 

Owen-Smith and Sandy Bell v England at Leeds in 

1929. 

AB de Villiers scored the fastest Test century 

for South Africa off 75 balls v India at 

Centurion, passing the previous record of 95 

held jointly by Denis Lindsay, Jonty Rhodes 

and Shaun Pollock.

Jacques Kallis became the 6th South African and the 

4th since re-admission to score two centuries in a 

Test when he made 161 & 109* against India at Cape 

Town. He was the first South African to do so in a 

home Test.

Mark Boucher equalled his own South African record 

when he took 9 dismissals (all ct) in the Test against 

India at Durban.

Hashim Amla sets off for 
a single during day 2 of 

the 2nd Test match between 
South Africa and India at 

Sahara Stadium.
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Supplied by Andrew Samson, Official Statistician of Cricket South Africa

Bowling
Name Overs Mdns Runs Wkts Avg BB 5I 10M
DW Steyn 207 50 645 27 23.88 6-50 2 0

M Morkel 209 55 584 21 27.80 5-20 2 0

PL Harris 237 83 487 11 44.27 3-98 0 0

J Botha 92.1 20 293 6 48.83 3-61 0 0

LL Tsotsobe 96 20 342 7 48.85 3-43 0 0

JH Kallis 75 19 240 4 60.00 1-20 0 0

AN Petersen 5 0 15 0 – – 0 0

GC Smith 4 0 27 0 – – 0 0

South Africa: Test Averages 2010/11
South Africa played 5 Tests in this period, winning 1, losing 1 and drawing 3.

Batting and Fielding
Name M Inns NO Runs HS Avg 100 50 Ct St
JH Kallis 5 9 3 821 201* 136.83 5 1 7 0

AB de Villiers 5 8 1 509 278* 72.71 2 0 7 0

HM Amla 5 9 1 514 140 64.25 2 3 9 0

AG Prince 5 7 2 201 47* 40.20 0 0 6 0

GC Smith 5 8 0 287 100 35.87 1 1 5 0

AN Petersen 5 9 0 300 77 33.33 0 2 1 0

MV Boucher 5 7 1 141 55 23.50 0 1 17 0

M Morkel 5 6 1 111 35* 22.20 0 0 0 0

DW Steyn 5 6 1 80 32 16.00 0 0 2 0

J Botha 2 3 1 29 12 14.50 0 0 1 0

PL Harris 5 6 0 33 19 5.50 0 0 2 0

LL Tsotsobe 3 4 1 16 8* 5.33 0 0 1 0

Bowling
Name Overs Mdns Runs Wkts Avg RPO BB 4I
Imran Tahir 39.3 2 150 14 10.71 3.79 4-38 2

J Theron 32.2 0 173 12 14.41 5.35 5-44 1

LL Tsotsobe 99 10 393 24 16.37 3.96 4-22 3

M Morkel 122.2 2 555 29 19.13 4.53 4-47 2

DW Steyn 102.3 6 460 23 20.00 4.48 5-50 1

RJ Peterson 96.5 5 454 22 20.63 4.68 4-12 1

JH Kallis 57 3 245 10 24.50 4.29 3-30 0

CK Langeveldt 39 1 234 7 33.42 6.00 3-75 0

J Botha 143.1 2 647 17 38.05 4.51 2-32 0

J-P Duminy 41 0 208 4 52.00 5.07 1-9 0

WD Parnell 59.5 2 319 6 53.16 5.33 2-30 0

F du Plessis 11 0 64 1 64.00 5.81 1-22 0

JA Morkel 19.5 1 134 2 67.00 6.75 2-35 0

Batting and Fielding (continued)
Name M Inns NO Runs HS Avg SR 100 50 Ct St
JA Morkel 4 4 0 58 37 14.50 87.87 0 0 2 0

WD Parnell 8 4 1 38 21* 12.66 76.00 0 0 1 0

DW Steyn 13 7 1 50 20 8.33 57.47 0 0 4 0

LL Tsotsobe 12 5 4 6 4* 6.00 85.71 0 0 1 0

J Theron 4 1 0 5 5 5.00 100.00 0 0 4 0

M Morkel 16 8 2 13 6 2.16 30.23 0 0 9 0

CK Langeveldt 4 1 1 4 4* – 200.00 0 0 1 0

Imran Tahir 5 2 2 1 1* – 50.00 0 0 2 0

South Africa: Pro20 International Averages 2010/11
South Africa played 5 Pro20 Internationals in this period, winning 4 and losing 1.

Batting and Fielding
Name M Inns NO Runs HS Avg SR 100 50 Ct St
J-P Duminy 5 5 3 192 96* 96.00 137.14 0 1 3 0

MN van Wyk 1 1 0 67 67 67.00 171.79 0 1 1 0

DA Miller 5 5 3 90 36* 45.00 136.36 0 0 1 0

GC Smith 4 4 0 155 58 38.75 138.39 0 1 3 0

J Botha 5 2 1 26 25 26.00 113.04 0 0 5 0

CA Ingram 5 5 1 94 46* 23.50 123.68 0 0 1 0

WD Parnell 3 1 0 14 14 14.00 87.50 0 0 1 0

LE Bosman 4 4 0 51 33 12.75 134.21 0 0 1 0

AB de Villiers 3 3 0 25 14 8.33 89.28 0 0 0 0

RJ Peterson 2 2 0 3 2 1.50 37.50 0 0 0 0

HM Amla 1 1 0 1 1 1.00 33.33 0 0 0 0

HG Kuhn 2 1 0 1 1 1.00 50.00 0 0 0 0

M Ntini 1 1 1 1 1* – 50.00 0 0 1 0

J Theron 5 1 1 1 1* – 25.00 0 0 2 0

R McLaren 1 0 0 0 0 – – 0 0 0 0

JA Morkel 2 0 0 0 0 – – 0 0 1 0

M Morkel 3 0 0 0 0 – – 0 0 0 0

LL Tsotsobe 3 0 0 0 0  – – 0 0 0 0

Sa inTErnaTionaL STaTiSTiCS
1 July 2010 to 30 April 2011

South Africa: Limited Overs International Averages 2010/11
South Africa played 20 Limited Overs Internationals in this period, winning 14 and losing 6.

Batting and Fielding
Name M Inns NO Runs HS Avg SR 100 50 Ct St
HM Amla 20 20 2 1091 119* 60.61 98.64 5 6 6 0

J-P Duminy 20 20 6 803 129 57.35 94.13 1 6 8 0

AB de Villiers 18 18 2 907 134 56.68 99.67 4 4 23 2

CA Ingram 12 11 2 374 124 41.55 89.26 2 0 3 0

JH Kallis 11 11 1 389 83 38.90 74.37 0 4 7 0

F du Plessis 10 9 2 228 60 32.57 82.31 0 2 3 0

GC Smith 18 18 1 548 92 32.23 72.48 0 2 13 0

MN van Wyk 7 7 1 136 56 22.66 78.61 0 1 7 1

J Botha 17 15 5 223 44 22.30 92.14 0 0 7 0

DA Miller 9 7 1 132 51 22.00 120.00 0 1 3 0

RJ Peterson 12 8 3 84 31 16.80 103.70 0 0 8 0

Bowling
Name Overs Mdns Runs Wkts Avg RPO BB 4I
LL Tsotsobe 12 0 68 6 11.33 5.66 3-16 0

J Theron 19.5 0 151 9 16.77 7.61 4-27 1

M Morkel 10 2 49 2 24.50 4.90 1-18 0

J Botha 18 0 133 5 26.60 7.38 3-31 0

RJ Peterson 7 0 56 2 28.00 8.00 2-36 0

JA Morkel 8 0 59 2 29.50 7.37 1-28 0

WD Parnell 12 0 95 3 31.66 7.91 2-29 0

J-P Duminy 5 0 52 1 52.00 10.40 1-12 0

R McLaren 4 0 37 0 – 9.25 – 0

M Ntini 4 0 46 0 – 11.50 – 0
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CSA CEO Gerald Majola said: 

“Shaun has made tremendous 

progress since he first came into our 

umpiring system in the 2002/03 season.  

I have fond memories of our playing days together 

for Eastern Province. His journey has been one of 

dedication and commitment to excellence.”

George’s other highlights include umpiring in the final 

of the Women’s World Cup in 2005, the Standard Bank 

Pro20 Final in 2008/2009 and the ICC Intercontinental 

Cup match between Zimbabwe XI and Ireland in 2010.

Brian Jerling and Johan Cloete 

represented CSA on the ICC International 

Panel of Umpires and both received ICC 

appointments to officiate in One-Day 

Internationals abroad.

The future of South African umpiring looks 

very promising and looks sure to produce  

many more umpires of the calibre and stature 

that former South African umpire Rudi 

Koertzen represented on the international 

stage. 

SEEKing CriCKET opEraTionaL EXCELLEnCE

MOSES MABHIDA SPECTACULAR –  
A FEATHER IN OUR CAP 

Cricket South Africa achieved what seemed like an 

impossible feat with the hosting of the spectacular 

Pro20 International at the iconic Moses Mabhida 

Stadium in Durban. Special permission was given 

to CSA to host the match at the soccer stadium, and 

countless hours of work were put in to make sure the 

match could take place under the strict international 

standards set by the International Cricket Council 

(ICC).

“It’s one of the most complex project ever undertaken 

by Cricket South Africa (CSA),” said Commercial 

Manager, Richard Glover.  

“Not only did we have to create a cricket pitch from 

scratch on a soccer field, but we had to make provision 

for a concert as well,” he said.  

“There were many complications and challenges, one of 

which was the design and placement of a massive stage 

at one end of the field, in a way that would not impact 

on the cricket. Also, the sight lines required for a cricket 

match are different from those needed for a concert, so 

ticket pricing and the categorization of tickets wasn’t 

easy. We spent hours trying to sort that one out,” said 

Glover. 

The 50 000-seater stadium was sold out, making it 

the biggest crowd to ever witness a cricket match 

on the African continent. It was an appropriate 

audience as CSA and the fans bid farewell to 

Makhaya Ntini who officially bowed out from 

International Cricket.

SOUTH AFRICAN UMPIRES ON THE 
RISE

Marais Erasmus reached new heights in his 

international umpiring career after his appointment 

onto the ICC International Elite Panel of Umpires. This 

bore testimony when he was selected to officiate in 

the high-profile quarterfinal match between India 

and Australia at the ICC Cricket World Cup in India. His 

appointment followed his Test debut in January 2010, 

when he stood in the match between Bangladesh and 

India. His career highlights did not end there as he 

continued to wave the South African flag in a dignified 

and astute manner. He also stood in one of the most 

fiercely contested Test series’ in cricket, The Ashes, 

which took place in Australia this year.

“I have had a really special season as an umpire. Even 

though I have reached many milestones and have stood 

in many high profile matches, I would still love to stand 

in a Test match at Lords, otherwise known as the home 

of cricket,” remarked Erasmus. 

Another umpire that is rising through the ranks is 

Eastern Cape-born Shaun George. George made his 

international debut when he officiated in the second 

Pro20 International between South Africa and 

Zimbabwe in Kimberley this past season. It was 

a landmark moment for Cricket South Africa 

as he became the first player to represent the 

old South African Cricket Board (SACB) at first-

class level and then to go on to umpire at a 

senior international level. 

Marais Erasmus during the 
MTN40 match between 
Nashua Titans and bizhub 
Highveld Lions.
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Eidafaan Goondie from Durban also had good things to 

say about the road show, “The UbuntuNow road show 

showed us that SA team has the support of the nation 

behind them for every match, win or lose. It uplifted 

our country and united all South Africans; it did not 

concentrate on individuals or different races.”

Zamani Manqele enjoyed the inclusiveness of the road 

show, “The road show reached out to everyone, young 

and old and I really loved the fact that it travelled to the 

communities across the country, we definitely felt the 

World Cup vibe.”

Another highlight was the Township TV programme in 

which big screens were erected in as many township 

venues as possible to enable disadvantaged children 

to watch and support the Proteas at the ICC World 

Cup. This initiative was combined with KFC Mini-

cricket Festivals during the break between innings 

that introduced many children to cricket for the first 

time. This is similar to the initiative that was launched 

by SAFA during the 2010 FIFA World Cup and it was an 

overwhelming success once again.

CSA is constantly seeking to include fans in its 

activities. Recently, it invited four fans to a workshop to 

map out CSA’s digital strategy for the year ahead. The 

fan’s voice is important and CSA is determined to have 

an effective two-way conversation with 

its number one stakeholder, as it 

continues to attract new fans 

to the game.

Vernon Philander and Justin Kemp 
of the Cape Cobras during the 
UbuntuNOW Road Show.

Performing artists during the 
UbuntuNOW Road Show at 
Kenilworth Centre, Cape Town.

CriCKET haS BEComE a Two-waY ConVErSaTion

Social media’s influence on cricket has grown at a fast 

rate over the past year. This has resulted in a better 

understanding of how stakeholders are experiencing 

the game and improved relations between Cricket 

South Africa (CSA) and fans.

CSA Corporate Relations Manager, Kass Naidoo, said: 

“Social media is all about immediacy and the availability 

of information is vital. At the click of a button, CSA has 

direct access to how fans feel. At the same time, fans 

are able to ask CSA questions and get answers in good 

time.”

“Social media also allows CSA to deliver breaking news 

from the world of cricket and promote its events and 

activities to a wide online audience.”

CSA launched its social media presence in June 2009, 

thanks to the spirited efforts of an intern in the 

Communications department. At 23, Sipokazi Sokanyile 

had bundles of energy and threw herself at the task 

of creating a social media presence for CSA. By June 

2011, CSA had over 140 000 fans on Facebook and over 

26 500 followers on Twitter.

“It’s always best hearing public opinion directly from 

the horse’s mouth and this way we have direct two-way 

communication with our most important stakeholders. 

When they are happy, they let us know and when 

they are unhappy, they are the loudest and we like 

this best. Having these social media pages also allows 

us to communicate our side of the story when things 

are tough and the fans appreciate our candour,” said 

Sokanyile.

Heidi Schneigansz, spokesperson for digital agency, 

Quirk, says: “Social media is changing the way 

companies interact with their customers. Two thirds 

of the global online population use social networks 

and smart brands are realizing the potential this space 

can offer in their communications strategies. This is 

especially important for sports federations as sports 

fans are some of the most interactive and content 

hungry consumers there are. 

“Cricket South Africa has embraced the social media 

landscape and built self sustaining communities that 

are passionate about the sport. By giving fans exclusive 

content and ensuring it is responsive to their needs, 

CSA has grown some of the largest opt-in social media 

databases in the country.”

During the 2011 ICC Cricket World Cup, fans voted with 

their feet and came out in their numbers to show their 

support for the Proteas at the Pure Protea UbuntuNOW 

road shows, which were launched by CSA to galvanise 

100% fan support for the Proteas.

The road shows gave CSA a new way of communicating 

with fans from all over the country. Pure Protea 

UbuntuNOW co-ordinator Pumla Sithole said: “When 

we started these road shows, we had no idea how big 

they would become. It was a great experience touring 

the country’s smaller communities and taking the Pure 

Protea World Cup spirit to them.”

One of the most important elements of the 

UbuntuNOW road show was to have player 

representation at each event and CSA were grateful 

for the support that the local domestic players showed 

for the Proteas. Appearances were made by Rusty 

Theron, Justin Kemp, David Miller, Loots Bosman, Alviro 

Petersen, Thami Tsolekile, Ryan McLaren, Justin Ontong, 

Thandi Tshabalala, Johan van der Wath and Vernon 

Philander to name just a few.

McLaren, who turned out at Sunny Park Shopping 

Centre in Pretoria had an enjoyable time experiencing 

the road show with other cricket fans, “It was wonderful 

to see the support for the Proteas. Fan support is 

everything to the guys, especially during the bad times.” 

Philander attended two road shows and had a fun time 

at both, “Getting the opportunity to mix with the fans 

was fun, these road shows have been great for the 

smaller communities,” he said.

Fans hailed the work of the road shows during the 

World Cup and asked CSA to continue bringing more 

road shows to the smaller communities of South Africa.

Thandeka Buthelezi from East London said: “I love this 

idea of road shows, we, as the people, have never felt 

closer to our team, the Proteas. The show itself is full of 

entertainment and educated those who knew nothing 

about the game.”
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Sunette Loubser with 
the Women’s Cricketer 
of the Year Award.

Pommie Mbangwa and Leanne 
Manas during the CSA Dinner 
Awards ceremony.
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AB de Villiers ponders 
a shot on the 18th 
green during the  
CSA Day.

AB de Villiers hands over a cheque 
to David Timm and Lauren Turnbull 
from KFC, money which was raised 
at the CSA Golf Day for the Add Hope 
Initiative.

CSa DaY: honoUring ThE STarS oF Tomorrow anD ToDaY

CSA CEO, Gerald Majola said: “CSA 

places a high value on these 

contributions and this is why 

this award ceremony opens the 

batting for us on Cricket South 

Africa Day. The standard set by 

these award winners will ensure 

the future success of South African 

cricket on the world stage.”

The SA Cricket Awards Breakfast was 

followed by the CSA Golf Invitational 

where the Proteas and key 

commercial stakeholders played 

a round of golf. The competition 

was fiercely contested, with the 

fourball of Christelle Britz, David 

Mokopanele, Leon Coetzee and 

Kerri Laing winning the overall 

day. There were outstanding 

prizes for all of the participants 

including LED Televisions, PVR 

Decoders, Camera’s, Playstation 

Consoles and other fancy gadgets.

CSA ended the day in spectacular 

fashion with the hosting of the SA Cricket 

Awards Gala Dinner. Jacques Kallis was crowned 

South Africa’s Cricketer of the Year at the awards 

banquet held at Gallagher Estate in Midrand. This was 

the second time that Kallis claimed this award, after 

winning it in 2004. 

Two lucky fans, Pleasure Hugh Nkosi from 

Potchefstroom and Estelle Warrener from 

Johannesburg, were chosen in a random draw to hand 

over the Fans’ Cricketer of the Year award, which was 

won by Hashim Amla. 

The awards were hosted by Morning Live Presenter 

Leanne Manas and SuperSport Presenter, Mpumelelo 

Mbangwa, in a glittering ceremony that was enjoyed 

by all. Simphiwe Dana entertained the guests, who 

varied from cricketers, administrators, celebrities 

and supporters of the game.

The third annual Cricket South Africa (CSA) Day was 

held on 7 June 2011, and saw the entire cricket family 

gather to celebrate the past season and recommit to 

CSA’s vision of making cricket a truly national sport of 

winners. 

CSA Day is a day set aside annually by CSA to celebrate 

the achievements of leading players and administrators 

for their achievements in amateur cricket, domestic 

professional cricket and operations, and the ultimate 

level of SA Team awards.

The day started at the Johannesburg Country Club, 

with the hosting of the SA Cricket Awards Breakfast, 

in association with KFC. Simon Swigelaar scooped the 

coveted Khaya Majola Lifetime Achievement award. He 

has dedicated nearly 50 years of his life to the game and 

walked away with the highly acclaimed award named 

after the late Khaya Majola, one of the pioneers of rural 

cricket development in the country. 

Other big winners from the amateur awards were CSA 

Women’s Cricketer of the Year, Sunette Loubser and 

SA Under-19 Player of the Year, 

Keaton Jennings. Akhona Nyiki 

was the first recipient of 

the CSA Girls U19 player of 

the Tournament award, an 

award that was brought 

in to reward aspirant girl 

cricketers at the annual 

week.
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Simon Swigelaar with the 
Khaya Majola Lifetime 

Achievement Award.

Jacques Kallis  
chips into the 

18th green 
during 

the CSA 
Day.
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THE NEXT 12 MONTHS: 

CSA has a solid commercial programme but there 

remains room for improvement. The key focus area 

over the next 12 months will be to develop a stronger 

understanding of the needs of our fans and partners 

(sponsors and broadcasters) as this will enable us to:

	 Build more effective products around the needs of 

our fans.

	 Strengthen commercial partnerships by delivering 

increased value.

	 Protect our critical revenue streams.

	 Develop new revenue streams – particularly  

in terms of merchandising and licensing.

	 Manage commercial related costs  

responsibly.

Richard Glover

SponSorShip oF CriCKET BUiLDS a STrong FoUnDaTion

The primary 

objective of the 

CSA’s commercial 

programme is to 

grow revenue in a 

sustainable way. 

This enables CSA 

to fulfil its strategic 

objectives around 

the cricket pipeline, 

from grass roots 

development all 

the way through to 

the national team. 

Revenue is generated in a number of ways but the two 

key areas are sponsorship and the sale of broadcasting 

rights to both local and international broadcasters. 

SPONSORSHIP: 

The exit of a long standing sponsor in Standard Bank 

heralds the end of an era for arguably the most iconic 

partnership in South African sport. Standard Bank 

has been involved in cricket since 1997 and have 

contributed massively to the development of the game 

in this country. They will be greatly missed.

The departure of Standard Bank has left a significant 

sponsorship hole to fill, but the good news is that 

cricket remains very attractive to sponsors. Indeed 

a number of exciting new sponsors at international, 

domestic and schools level will be unveiled shortly 

before the commencement of the 2011/12 season. 

Cricket has attracted much interest from new sponsors 

for a number of reasons – but the most critical benefits 

we offer our partners are access to: 

A significant supporter base: According to the 2010 

BMI Sporttrack report, cricket is the second most 

popular spectator sport amongst South Africans, with 

close to 9.4 million fans.

A diverse fan base: Recent research from Repucom 

shows that cricket also has the most diverse audience 

(across race, age and gender) of the three major 

sports in South Africa. For example over 50% of our 

fan base is black, with 30% of our supporters under 

the age of 24.

BROADCASTING RIGHTS:

The sale of broadcast rights to local and international 

broadcasters is our single biggest revenue stream. 

Within South Africa, cricket is broadcast via both 

SuperSport and the SABC. Both broadcasters are key 

partners for CSA and have contributed hugely to the 

development of cricket in South Africa. 

The 2010/11 international cricket season was broadcast 

by rights holders across the world, in territories 

covering Australasia (Fox Sports), the pan-Asia region 

(Ten Sports), the United Kingdom (BSKYB), North 

America (Willow TV) and the Caribbean (Sports Max). 

Collectively these broadcasters reach over 130 million 

potential viewers worldwide. 

The 2010/11 international season also marked the 

first year of the new host production partnership with 

SuperSport. Both parties collaborated to produce the 

world broadcast feed for all Proteas matches played 

in South Africa. The first year was a massive success 

with the production earning praise from many of our 

international rights holders. 

CSA’s control over the production of its matches, as well 

as the sale of the associated broadcast rights, is a real 

organisational strength and should ensure we protect 

and continue to grow our most powerful revenue 

stream, in the coming seasons. 
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(MANCO) meets regularly with CSA’s executive 

management. Where appropriate, employees are 

invited to the Board to make presentation on proposals 

that require Board consideration. The Board has a 

unitary structure and the role of the President and CEO 

are separate and well defined. The number of non-

executive directors on the Board ensures appropriate 

independence.

Directors have unrestricted access to management and 

CSA information. To fulfil their duties, the directors are 

granted access to resources including external legal 

advice at CSA’s expense. The Board also ensures that the 

directors posses the skills, knowledge and experience 

necessary to perform their duties. An induction 

program has been adopted for the Board members. 

Directors are kept updated of all significant legislations 

and developments that have material impact on the 

operations of CSA.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by various committees. The 

establishment of the committees does not absolve 

the Board from its ultimate responsibilities and 

duties. Details of the activities of these structures 

are based on defined terms of reference which are 

approved by the Board. Reports from each committee 

are submitted to the Board at scheduled quarterly 

meetings for consideration. All the committee members 

were appointed by the Board and while the chairs 

of each committee are directors, not all of members 

of the committees are directors of CSA. Appropriate 

mechanisms are in place to ensure all the members of 

the committees are kept abreast of the developments 

in CSA. In addition, the members of the committees 

have access to management and the records of CSA, as 

well as access to external professional advisers, at CSA 

expense, should the need arise.

The following committees support the Board:

	 audit and risk Committee 

 The Audit and Risk committee operates under an 

approved charter, assisting the Board to fulfill its 

corporate governance supervision responsibilities 

relating to accurate financial reporting oversight. The 

Audit and Risk committee consists of three non-

executive directors and 2 independent accountants. 

The members are diverse and have the requisite skills, 

knowledge and experience. The Board considers this 

to be appropriate given the membership of the Board 

and the nature of CSA’s activities.

 Terms of Reference:

 The committee’s responsibilities include, amongst 

others:

 – Monitoring the company’s accounting policies 

and disclosures

 – Recommending actions by the Board to ensure 

compliance with relevant accounting standards

 – Discussing and agreeing the scope, nature and 

priority of the internal and external audits

 – Recommending and reviewing the annual 

responsibility statement by directors

 – Reviewing risks pertaining to the company

 The chairman of the committee reports to the Board 

on the committee’s deliberations and decisions. The 

internal and external auditors have unrestricted 

access to the committee.

 The committee is satisfied that the external auditors 

were independent for the year under review and has 

nominated them for re-appointment. The committee 

has reviewed the appropriateness of the expertise 

and adequacy of the resources of the finance 

function and experience of the Chief Financial 

Officer (CFO) during the financial year under review. 

The committee has reviewed the company’s internal 

financial controls and the reports of the internal and 

external auditor and considers these controls to be 

effective, apart from the matters disclosed in note 9 

to the financial statements.

 The committee has reviewed the company’s cash 

flow forecast for the year ending 30 April 2012 and 

the medium term budgets and forecasts and is 

satisfied that the company has adequate resources 

to continue to operate for the foreseeable future.

 The committee has reviewed the annual financial 

statements and recommended these to the Board 

for approval.

 The committee has satisfied its responsibilities under 

its terms of reference and has complied with its legal 

and regulatory responsibilities.

CorporaTE goVErnanCE

The Board of 

directors (“Board”) 

of Cricket South 

Africa s21 (“CSA”) 

is responsible 

for the corporate 

governance of 

CSA. To achieve 

this objective, the 

Board ensures 

compliance 

with the CSA 

Memorandum 

and Articles of 

Association and the Companies Act of South Africa. 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The Board recognises the need to conduct the 

business of the company with openness, integrity and 

accountability. A corporate governance framework is 

in operation and is reviewed from time to time and 

updated where appropriate. The Board implemented 

processes to ensure that the King III Code of Corporate 

Governance is complied with, as far as appropriate 

to an organization of this nature and size during the 

financial year under review. The implementation of 

these processes has indicated that CSA is substantially 

in line with the recommendations of King III and on 

those areas identified as not effective, the necessary 

steps are underway to achieve optimal alignment 

during the course of the financial year ending 30 April 

2012.

The Board continues to improve the implementation 

of corporate governance principles at all levels 

of administration within CSA and encourages 

transparency and accountability in cricket 

administration by all its affiliates and stakeholders. The 

Board is accountable to the Members, being the 11 

Affiliates. 

BOARD AND DIRECTORS

Board structure and composition

The Board has overall responsibility over the activities 

of CSA including corporate governance and risk 

management. 

At the date of this report, the Board comprises of 22 

directors, of which 6 are considered to be independent 

of management of CSA or its affiliates, and are 

comprised as follows:

	 3 Office Bearers (President, Vice-President and the 

Chair of the Finance and Commercial Committee)

	 Chief Executive Officer (ex-officio)

	 11 Affiliate Member representatives

	 1 Associate Member representative

	 3 Black African representatives

	 2 Independent representatives

	 1 Independent Audit Committee Chair (ex-officio)

The Board is not comprised of more than 50% 

independent directors due to the Members’ 

requirement for full representation of Affiliate 

representatives on the Board.

The rotation term of directors is 2 years. The Board is 

responsible for the appointment of the Chief Executive 

Officer (CEO). The names of directors are included in the 

Directors’ report. The Board meets quarterly, although 

additional meetings are held as necessary. 

Risks pertaining to CSA in local and international 

cricket matters, operations, finances, IT, controls, 

stakeholders and the environment were reviewed and 

refreshed during the year under review. These risks are 

monitored on an ongoing basis by the Audit and Risk 

committee, the Financial and Commercial Committee 

and the Board.

BOARD POWERS AND PROCEDURES

The Board retains full and effective control over the 

company and there is a clear distinction between the 

role of directors and that of management. The Board 

guides and approves CSA strategy, policies and budgets 

and ensures that effective management is in place for 

their implementation. In addition, the Board determines 

and sets the tone of the company’s values and ethical 

business practices. The Board gives effect to all its 

responsibilities through a sub-committee structure 

which perform detailed and in-depth oversight on 

specific areas. The Board delegates to the CEO the 

execution of the strategy and he undertakes the 

operational business of CSA. A well defined reporting 

mechanism exists. The Board’s Management Committee 
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	 Transformation Committee

 The Transformation committee reviews CSA’s 

transformation policy and its implementation, and 

makes relevant recommendations to the Board for 

consideration and decision. The sub-committee 

comprises six members.

	 management Committee

 The Management committee (MANCO) comprises 

of the President and the Vice President of the Board, 

Chairman of the Finance and Commercial committee 

and CEO. MANCO meets as and when necessary to 

discuss and review executive business and other 

matters raised that affect South African Cricket 

generally.

GOING CONCERN

The Audit and Risk committee considers and assesses 

the going concern nature of CSA as part of the 

preparation of the financial statements. The outcome is 

considered by the Board to affirm the conclusion that 

CSA is a going concern entity.

ETHICS AND WHISTLE BLOWING 

CSA promotes the highest ethical standards so as to 

ensure that cricket, its business practices and actions 

are conducted in a manner which is beyond reproach.

These principles are incorporated in a formal Code 

of Ethics Conduct which was approved by the Board 

and provides clear guidelines regarding the expected 

behaviour of all its Members, Board directors, 

Committee members, players and employees. The 

Code is reviewed regularly and overseen by senior 

management.

In addition, CSA has a whistle blowing policy that 

encourages employees, players and other stakeholders 

to anonymously and confidentially report incidences of 

unethical and illegal nature, that impacts on CSA, to the 

Audit and Risk committee chairperson. 

STAKEHOLDER’S ENGAGEMENTS

CSA has in place a number of processes that promote 

constructive engagement with employees and 

stakeholders: affiliates, franchises, players, sponsors, 

and members of public. Regular updates of CSA 

activities are included in the CSA website.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

A full description of CSA’s activities in supporting 

sustainable development is given separately in the 

annual report.

John Blair

 The committee meets three times annually, with 

special meetings called as and when necessary. The 

CEO and CFO are invited to attend the meetings of 

the Audit and Risk committee.

	 Finance and Commercial Committee

 The Finance and Commercial committee operates 

under an approved charter, assisting the Board 

to fulfill its corporate governance supervision 

responsibilities relating to accurate financial 

reporting and commercial oversight.

 Terms of Reference:

 The committee’s responsibilities include, amongst 

others:

 – Drawing up budgets, feasibility reviews and 

tracking of actual results and balances relative to 

budgets in the form of management accounts

 – Statutory and risk matters specific to the 

commercial and financial aspects of CSA’s 

business

 – Cash flow, treasury, forex and investments

 – Oversight of commercial and broadcast 

properties relevant to CSA 

 The chairman of the committee is an independent 

non-executive director and reports to the Board 

on the committee’s deliberations and decisions. 

The remainder of the committee consists of 

one Franchise/Affiliate CEO representative, one 

Franchise/Affiliate CFO representative, two Forum 

members and an independent member (not a 

member of the Board) with commercial experience. 

The CEO, CFO, Commercial Manager and the CEO of 

the South African Cricketers Association (SACA) are 

invited to attend the meetings of the Finance and 

Commercial committee.

 The committee has satisfied its responsibilities under 

its terms of reference and has complied with its legal 

and regulatory responsibilities. 

 The committee meets at least four times annually.

	 Legal and governance Committee

 The Legal and Governance committee comprises 

of three independent members and one Franchise/

Affiliate CEO representative.

 The committee assists in overseeing all legal and 

governance matters. The committee meets as 

necessary.

	 remuneration and human resources Committee

 The Remuneration and Human Resources committee 

operates under an approved charter, assisting the 

Board to fulfill its corporate governance supervision 

responsibilities and align remuneration philosophy 

with its business strategy to attract, retain, motivate 

and reward senior executives and staff by the 

payment of fair, competitive and appropriately 

structured remuneration.

 Terms of Reference:

 The committee’s responsibilities include, amongst 

others:

 – Overseeing the setting and administering of 

remuneration at all levels in the company

 – Overseeing the establishment of a remuneration 

policy that will promote the achievement of 

strategic objectives and encourage individual 

performance

 – Advising on the remuneration of non-executive 

directors if this matter should arise

 – Overseeing the development and 

implementation of appropriate human resources 

management policies and structures

 – Guiding the management in the fulfillment 

of management responsibilities in respect 

of the attraction, retention, succession and 

management of staff 

 The chairman of the committee is an 

independent non-executive director and 

reports to the Board on the committee’s 

deliberations and decisions. The remainder 

of the committee consists of the Chairman 

of the Finance and Commercial committee, a 

non-executive director and an independent 

member. The committee meets twice annually, 

with special meetings called as and when 

necessary. The CEO, CFO and CSA’s Human 

Resources Consultant are invited to attend all 

the meetings of the committee.

 The committee believes it has satisfied its 

responsibilities under its terms of reference. 

CorporaTE goVErnanCE (continued)
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are often ignored by sports bodies and it’s refreshing to 

have an organisation that pays these topics such hands-

on attention.”

The charity event was in aid of the South African Look 

Good … Feel Better Campaign. It supports women with 

breast cancer.

The Look Good … Feel Better programme is available 

through the generous support of the Cosmetic, 

Toiletry and Fragrance Industry. The Industry supports 

the programme with products, financial donations 

and volunteers. The programme is available in all 

provinces. There have been over 10 000 cancer 

patients helped by the programme since its inception.

CSA Corporate Relations Manager, Kass Naidoo, said: 

“Breast cancer is a reality for many women and we felt 

it was important to show our support for this initiative 

and gain a better understanding of the challenges we 

face, from a health point of view.”

CSA continues to make an effort in shaping a better 

tomorrow for cricket. We cannot undo the past, but we 

can shape the future. We do what we do today, for what 

will happen TOMORROW!. 

Gerald Majola cuts the ribbon with 
Cassin Docrat, Ray Mali and Daniel 
Phetla during the upliftment project.

CSa ShapES Tomorrow

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSI) is a core part of 

Cricket South Africa’s (CSA) values and principles, and it 

is engaged in rewarding partnerships that aim to make 

a difference in communities that produce South Africa’s 

future cricket stars.

This year, facilities at Alexandra Cricket Club in 

Johannesburg received a Mandela Day makeover, after 

CSA and the Gauteng Cricket Board (GCB) joined forces 

by giving back to its cricket structures.

The move was a timely development following the 

Club’s promotion to play Premier League Cricket this 

season, and comes after a revival of cricket in the area, 

thanks to concerted efforts from the GCB.

CSA CEO Gerald Majola said: “Nelson Mandela is 

an inspiration to cricket, and was a vital part of the 

unity process 20 years ago. It was wonderful for us 

to honour his life by participating in Mandela Day. 

Alexandra Cricket Club was recently promoted to 

play Premier League Cricket in Gauteng so at least 

we know that our 67-minutes went a long way in 

uplifting cricket in this area. I would like to thank 

everyone who came out in support of our initiative 

and hopefully every day going forward will be a 

Mandela Day.”

At least 50 CSA and GCB staff, including players from 

the Proteas men’s and women’s national sides and 

the bizhub Highveld Lions, descended on Alexandra 

Cricket Club to lend a helping hand to the project, 

which included renovations to the clubhouse, 

change rooms and grass embankments. At the same 

time, a 67-minute KFC Mini-Cricket festival was 

held, which saw over 200 budding cricketers being 

coached by their heroes, while enjoying cricket in 

the winter sun. 

CSA was supported by its key commercial partners 

Sedgars and KFC in making the day a success. 

CSA and the Proteas support many local and 

international charities through participation in fund-

raising events and the Proteas memorabilia programme. 

During the past season, the Proteas found meaningful 

avenues to show South Africa that they care about 

shaping tomorrow.

The Proteas spent time with some of their adoring fans 

when they visited the Hennops River Primary School, 

west of Johannesburg. The visit was part of a two-day 

team-building camp that was part of an effort to build 

a winning Proteas culture and to show Ubuntu to those 

that are less fortunate.

The modest farm-school learners were treated to 

a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity, which included 

spending time with some of their favourite cricketers. 

The Proteas gave the learners treats as well as replica 

playing shirts as a token of thanks, for their unwavering 

support.

Proteas batsman, JP Duminy, was humbled by the 

experience. “Ubuntu is the caring and sharing of 

harmony in all creations,” said Duminy. “It’s an endearing 

quality that has helped us recommit to making a 

difference wherever and whenever we can. I don’t 

think the children here will ever forget this humbling 

experience. As a player you don’t realise the effect that 

you have on young adoring fans.”  

CSA hosted a table of influential female cricket media 

personalities at the Estee Lauder Pink Illumination Ball, 

in a show of support for breast cancer awareness.

CSA’s guests at the event included SA women’s 

cricket captain, Cri-Zelda Brits, Gauteng Cricket Board 

Marketing and Communications Manager, Andra 

Ferreira, Cricinfo SA journalist, Firdose Moonda, e-TV 

sports reporter, Carly Weinberg and television and radio 

personality, Carol Manana.

“There is so much good work being done out 

there to increase the awareness of breast cancer 

and to raise funds for those suffering from this 

heartbreaking disease. It was great being able to see 

the community of Johannesburg support this worthy 

cause. My hat’s off to all who dedicate resources to 

bettering the lives of those around them – they are a 

true inspiration,” commented Gauteng Cricket Board 

Marketing and Corporate Communications Manager, 

Andra Nel.

ESPN Cricinfo writer Firdose Moonda said: “It’s 

wonderful to see cricket get involved in an issue that 

affects women at such a real level. Off the field issues 
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was developed previously continues to ensure that 

the Finance and Commercial Committee is able to 

evaluate financial statements of all affiliates based on 

comparable information.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the FINCOM would like to emphasize the 

major financial contribution made to Cricket by our 

sponsors, our suppliers and our spectators and wish to 

give assurance to these supporters that the finance’s of 

this organization are well managed and will continue 

to be so into the future. We would also like to thank 

Standard Bank and MTN for their support over the many 

years that they have been involved in South African 

Cricket. The significant investment in the game by 

Standard Bank and MTN leaves cricket in a very healthy 

state.

The committee would like to express its appreciation 

to the management and in particular the Chief 

Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the 

Commercial Manager and head office staff and the 

Audit and Risk Committee for their time and input 

during the year which assisted in contributing an 

outstanding financial result for Cricket South Africa.

John Bester

SpLiT oF 2010/11 opEraTionaL rEVEnUE

SpLiT oF 2010/11 opEraTionaL EXpEnSES

   Amateur Sponsorship

   Professional Sponsorship

   Broadcast Rights income

   ICC Distributions

   Government grants

   Other income

   Administrative and other expenses

   Amateur and Development Cricket

   Direct Allocations to amateur bodies

   Direct Allocations to franchises

   Domestic Competitions Funding

   Marketing Expenses

   National Squad Remuneration

   SA team tour costs

   TV production costs
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Chairman oF ThE FinanCE anD CommErCiaL CommiTTEE’S rEporT

This report reviews 

the financial 

highlights for the 

year ended 30 April 

2011.

The main 

objectives of 

the Finance and 

Commercial 

Committee 

(FINCOM) 

are to provide 

strategic risk and 

monitoring support to Cricket South Africa (CSA) 

in all areas relating to the financial and commercial 

matters. In this regard FINCOM continues to fulfil 

a very important role so as to ensure that cricket 

has a stable and predictable financial foundation to 

allow it to develop. The annual financial statements 

are prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board, in 

the manner required by the Company’s Act of South 

Africa and are the responsibility of the Directors. The 

Directors having conducted appropriate procedures 

are satisfied that the company is a going concern for 

the foreseeable future and such going concern basis 

has been adopted in the preparation of the financial 

statements.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

In the year under review CSA has realised a significant 

operating profit before tax of R247,8 million 

compared to R138,8 million of the previous year. This 

outstanding result has been attributable to a large 

increase in International Broadcast Rights income and 

ICC distributions. Income for the year has therefore 

increased by 46,3%, with an increase in expenses 

during the same period of 34,0%.

Further to the operating results for the year CSA has 

reported a taxation credit in the amount of R47,7 

million (tax charge in 2010 of R50,4 million) giving rise 

to a profit after tax for the year of R295,6 million (2010 

R88,5 million). CSA may deduct from its income all 

qualifying expenditure not of a capital nature, incurred 

by it on the promotion of qualifying amateur sport 

falling under the same code as the professional sport 

for tax purposes. Income tax liabilities previously arising 

are now reversed in this year. 

The continued positive result is a reflection of the 

benefits that CSA derives from a continued operation of 

the improved structures, expertise and management at 

all levels within the organisation.

The main drivers of income are the International 

Broadcasting Rights, ICC income with Sponsorship 

revenue being a major contributor to the revenue line. 

Broadcast Rights Income was significantly higher this 

year due to the incoming Indian tour during the season.

The expenses of the organisation were controlled 

with budgeted increases being experienced in the 

remuneration of the national squad and expenses 

incurred on all South African team tour costs. The 

allocation to amateur bodies and franchises was 

increased during the year as a result of a special 

distribution awarded to them. 

On review of the balance sheet, it will be seen that 

Cricket South Africa holds very large cash resources. 

This is a result of the fact that revenue is primary 

received in the last few months of the financial year and 

expenditure incurred on a consistent basis during the 

year. The current cash position, together with future 

income and controlled expenditure, needs to ensure 

that the operational costs for CSA are adequately 

covered for ensuing four years when income will not be 

equal to the current years’ income.

FORWARD REVIEW

The previously adopted four year budget cycle has been 

retained on a basis of an ongoing cycle. This allows CSA 

to positively view its financial position over a rolling 

four year period and to ensure that it is financially stable 

into the future.

OTHER KEY ISSUES

CSA continues to oversee the financial position of the 

affiliates which assists in ensuring a healthy amateur 

funding process. A Standard Chart of Accounts that 
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inDEpEnDEnT aUDiTor’S rEporT To ThE 
mEmBErS oF CriCKET SoUTh aFriCa 
(Association incorporated under Section 21)

We have audited the annual financial statements of 

Cricket South Africa (Association incorporated under 

Section 21), which comprise the directors’ report, the 

statement of financial position as at 30 April 2011, 

the statement of comprehensive income, statement 

of changes in equity, and statement of cash flows for 

the year then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set 

out on pages 79 to 103. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation 

and fair presentation of these financial statements 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and in the manner required by the 

Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with International Standards 

on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply 

with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 

audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. The procedures selected 

depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 

making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 

fair presentation of the financial statements in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 

directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statement.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of Cricket 

South Africa (Association incorporated under Section 

21) as at 30 April 2011, and its financial performance and 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial reporting Standards, and in the 

manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

Deloitte & Touche

Registered Auditors

Per M Ajoodha

Partner

5 August 2011

Buildings 1 and 2, Deloitte Place, The Woodlands,

Woodlands Drive, Woodmead, Sandton

National Executive: GG Gelink Chief Executive, AE Swiegers Chief Operating Officer, 
GM Pinnock Audit, DL Kennedy Risk Advisory, NB Kader Tax & Legal Services,  
L Geeringh Consulting, L Bam Corporate Finance, JK Mazzocco Human Resources,  
CR Beukman Finance, TJ Brown Clients, NT Mtoba Chairman of the Board,  
MJ Comber Deputy Chairman of the Board

DirECTorS’ rEporT
30 April 2011

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report 

for the year ended 30 April 2011.

 

Nature of Business and Operations

The company’s main business is to promote, advance, 

administer, co-ordinate and generally encourage the 

game of cricket in South Africa.

Review of results for the year

The results of the company and the state of its 

affairs are fully set out in the accompanying financial 

statements. 

Distributions and Dividends

The company distributes monies to its members 

including but not limited to its affiliates and associate 

members for the protection, promotion and 

DirECTorS’ approVaL oF ThE annUaL 
FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS

The annual financial statements set out on pages 79 to 

103 are the responsibility of the directors.

The directors are responsible for selecting and adopting 

sound accounting practices, for maintaining an 

adequate and effective system of accounting records, 

for safeguarding of assets, and for developing and 

maintaining a system of internal control that, among 

other things, will ensure the preparation of financial 

statements that achieve fair presentation. Nothing has 

come to the attention of the directors to indicate any 

material breakdown in the functioning of the controls, 

procedures and system has occurred during the year 

under review.

After conducting appropriate procedures, the 

directors are satisfied that the company will be a 

going concern for the foreseeable future and have 

adopted the going concern basis in preparing the 

financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, and in the manner required by the 

Companies Act of South Africa. The annual financial 

statements are based on appropriate accounting 

policies that are consistently applied and supported by 

reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 79 to 

103 were approved by the board of directors on 30 July 

2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

M NYOKA 

G MAJOLA 

J A BESTER

CriCKET SoUTh aFriCa 
(Association incorporated under Section 21)

annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS
30 April 2011

 78 Directors’ approval of the annual financial statements

 79 Independent auditor’s report

 79 Directors’ report 

 81 Statement of comprehensive income

 82 Statement of financial position

 83 Statement of changes in equity

 84 Statement of cash flows

 85 Notes to the annual financial statements

Naasei Appiah
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CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
STaTEmEnT oF ComprEhEnSiVE inComE

for the year ended 30 April 2011

Notes 2011 2010

R’000 R’000

Revenue 727 472 497 246

Amateur sponsorship 27 470 24 564

Broadcast rights income 372 253 190 471

Coach hire 4 293 –

Event income 850 23 358

ICC distributions 143 174 94 076

International gates revenue 17 572 6 325

NLDTF (Lottery) grant 12 500 4 822

Other income 27 647 36 617

Professional sponsorship 121 073 116 413

Sports and Recreation South Africa grants 2 640 600

Expenses (470 934) (351 555)

Administrative expenses and fees (79 017) (59 413)

Amateur cricket (49 080) (42 030)

Cricket development (1 254) (1 389)

Cricket operations and umpires (7 142) (5 979)

Coach hire (5 127) –

Direct allocations to amateur bodies (69 633) (67 437)

Direct allocations to franchises (42 684) (34 483)

Disabled cricket (728) (303)

Domestic competitions funding (11 088) (8 908)

High performance programme (3 008) (3 897)

Marketing expenses (19 423) (17 554)

National squad – remuneration (96 564) (51 690)

Women’s cricket (5 146) (4 576)

Parastatal grants (240) (295)

SA teams tour costs (67 303) (39 970)

Sports and Recreation South Africa expenditure 2 (640) (600)

TV production costs (12 857) (13 031)

Operating profit 3 256 538 145 691

Finance costs 4 (703) (120)

Investment income 4 10 046 7 949

Net foreign exchange loss (18 032) (9 568)

Fair value adjustment on loan 8.2 – (5 113)

Profit before taxation 247 849 138 839

Taxation credit (charge) 5 47 730 (50 354)

Profit for the year 295 579 88 485

Total comprehensive income for the year 295 579 88 485

advancement of amateur and professional cricket 

in terms of s11E and s24E of the Income Tax Act. In 

the current year, the company distributed R112,3 

million (2010: R101,9 million) to its affiliate and 

associate members. No dividends were declared or 

recommended during the current and prior year. 

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the company spent a total of R 23,8 

million (2010: R1,8 million) on additions to property, 

plant and equipment.

Going Concern

The directors consider that the company has adequate 

resources to continue operating for the foreseeable 

future and that it is therefore appropriate to adopt 

the going concern basis in preparing the company’s 

financial statements.

Directors

The directors of the company during the financial year 

and up to the date of this report were:

M Nyoka* President

A K Khan  Vice-President 

 (Appointed 21 August 2010)

M G Majola# Chief Executive Officer 

C Beggs* (Resigned 21 August 2010)

J A Bester* (Appointed 21 August 2010)

J H Blair* (Appointed 21 August 2010)

R S Classen (Appointed 21 August 2010)

L Crawley (Appointed 21 August 2010))

P W Cyster (Appointed 21 August 2010)

M Ebrahim    

M F Jaffar (Appointed 21 August 2010)

J S Gericke (Resigned 21 August 2010)

P K Harris* (Resigned 21 August 2010)

A Jinnah    

R R Mali† 

D T May (Appointed 21 August 2010)

V Mgadle (Resigned 21 August 2010)

T N Mgoduso* (Appointed 21 August 2010)

H E Molotsi (Appointed 21 August 2010)

G Naidoo*    

H C Nenzani (Appointed 21 August 2010)

M G Nkagisang (Appointed 21 August 2010)

A G O’Connor (Appointed 21 August 2010)

E Pretorius (Appointed 21 August 2010)

V N Sinovich    

P N Thamae (Appointed 21 August 2010)

H A Van Wyk* (Resigned 21 August 2010)

Interest of Directors and Officers in Contracts

During the financial year under review, the company 

received sponsorship from The New Age Media (Pty) Ltd 

amounting to R2,8 million (2010: Rnil) in which  

G Naidoo is a member of the executive. 

The directors have certified that they did not have 

any other material interest in any transaction of any 

significance with the Company.

A register detailing directors’ and officers’ interests is 

available for inspection at the company’s registered 

office.

Secretary

All secretarial matters are dealt with by the office of the 

Chief Executive Officer.

Business address Postal address

Wanderers Club P O Box 55009

21 North Street Northlands

Illovo, Johannesburg 2116

* Independent non-executive directors do not serve 

office in any other cricket capacity by way of their 

association with cricket unions, affiliates and player 

associations.

# Executive director. All other directors listed above 

are non-executive directors.

† Resigned as deputy chairman on 21 August 2010 

and was appointed on the same date as an interim 

administrator of the Gauteng Cricket Board.
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Retained

 earnings

R’000

Balance as at 1 May 2009 196 194

Total comprehensive income for the year 88 485

Balance as at 30 April 2010 284 679

Total comprehensive income for the year 295 579

Balance as at 30 April 2011 580 258

Notes 2011 2010

R’000 R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets 37 264 21 156

Property, plant and equipment 6 24 957 2 909

Deferred taxation 7 – 2 889

Loan: Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd 8.1 – 978

Loan: Western Province Cricket Association 8.2 12 307 14 380

Current assets 669 244 386 616

Loan: Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd 8.1 – 366

Loan: Western Province Cricket Association 8.2 2 193 2 175

Advance: 2009 ICC Champions Trophy (South Africa) 8.3 – 2 120

Advance: 2009 Indian Premier League (South Africa)  8.4 – 9 838

Advance: 2010 Champions League T20 (South Africa) 8.5 8 388 –

Trade and other receivables 9 148 293 60 855

Value Added Tax receivable 13 742 16 458

Cash and cash equivalents 10 496 628 294 804

TOTAL ASSETS 706 508 407 772

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 580 258 284 679

Retained earnings 580 258 284 679

Non-Current liability 2 862 –

Other financial liability 8.6 2 862 –

Current liabilities 123 388 123 093

Other financial liability 8.6 16 434 –

Advance: 2010 Champions League T20 (South Africa) 8.5 16 404 –

Provision 11 500 2 650

Trade and other payables 12 90 050 69 824

Taxation payable – 50 619

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 706 508 407 772

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
STaTEmEnT oF FinanCiaL poSiTion
for the year ended 30 April 2011
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CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS

for the year ended 30 April 2011

1. aCCoUnTing poLiCiES

1.1 Basis of preparation

 The principal accounting policies of the entity, 
which are set out below, comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

 The company changed the basis of preparation 
of its financial statements from the South African 
Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (“SA GAAP”) standard to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards 
Board. A reconciliation between SA GAAP 
and IFRS has not be performed as there were 
no reconciling items between the SA GAAP 
reporting method and the IFRS method other 
than wording changes

 These financial statements are presented in South 
African Rand since that is the currency in which 
the majority of the company’s transactions are 
denominated.

 The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments carried at fair value, and 
non-current assets which are held at the lower of 
carrying value and fair value less costs to sell, as 
applicable.

 The preparation of financial statements requires 
the use of estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported values of assets and liabilities, and 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reported period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best 
knowledge of current events and actions, 
actual results may ultimately differ from those 
estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. 

 The principal accounting policies of the company 
are consistent with those applied in the previous 
year. Changes in accounting standards have been 
disclosed in note 21.

1.2 Revenue

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the company and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable. VAT 
is excluded from revenue. Revenue comprises 
income from the sale of TV rights, sponsorship 
revenue, event revenue, gate revenue and other 
revenue. Revenue due in terms of contracts is 
recognised according to the terms of the contract, 
while all other income is accounted for on an 
accrual basis or in accordance with the relevant 
transactions or agreements. 

1.3 Investment income

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis by 
reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
interest rate applicable.

1.4 Taxation

 The charge for current taxation is based on the 
results for the year as adjusted for items which 
are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated 
using taxation rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 Deferred taxation is accounted for on all 
temporary differences arising from differences 
between the carrying value of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding 
taxation bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. In principle, deferred taxation liabilities are 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
and deferred taxation assets a re recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary differences arise from goodwill or from 
the acquisition of an asset, which does not affect 
either taxable or accounting income.

 Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised 
for taxable temporary differences arising on 
investments in businesses except where the 
company is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

 Deferred taxation is calculated at the tax rates that 
reflect the tax consequences that would follow 

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 247 849 138 839

Adjustments for: (9 551) (3 950)

Depreciation 1 750 548

Finance costs 703 120

Investment income (10 046) (7 949)

Fair value adjustment on loan – 5 113

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 39 29

Loan written off 153 –

Movement in provisions (2 150) (1 811)

Operating profit before working capital changes: 238 298 134 889

Adjustments for working capital changes: (64 496) 5 723

Increase in trade and other receivables (87 438) (9 944)

Decrease (increase) in Value Added Tax receivable 2 716 (10 974)

Increase in trade and other payables 20 226 26 641

Cash generated from operations 173 802 140 612

Interest paid (703) (120)

Interest received 9 201 7 949

Normal taxation paid – (22)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 182 300 148 419

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (23 837) (1 789)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 33

Decrease in Central Cricket Franchise loan 1 191 376

Decrease in Western Province Cricket Association loan 2 900 3 649

Decrease in 2007 ICC 20 20 WC advance – 8 014

Decrease (increase) in 2009 ICC Champions Trophy advance 2 120 (2 120)

Decrease (increase) in 2009 Indian Premier League advance 9 838 (9 838)

Increase in 2010 Champions League T20 advance (8 388) –

Net cash outflow from investing activities (16 176) (1 675)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Decrease in 2009 Indian Premier League advance – (74 843)

Increase in other financial liability 19 296 –

Increase in 2010 Champions League T20 advance 16 404 –

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities 35 700 (74 843)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 201 824 71 901

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 294 804 222 903

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 496 628 294 804

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
STaTEmEnT oF CaSh FLowS
for the year ended 30 April 2011
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company’s contributions are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income during the 
period in which the employee renders the related 
service.

1.10 Receipts in advance

 Monies received which are not yet due, in terms 
of the contracts, are deferred and recorded as 
receipts in advance, in liabilities.

1.11 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are capitalised when the company 
has qualified assets. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

1.12 Financial instruments

 Initial recognition and measurement
 All financial instruments, including derivative 

instruments, are recognised in the statement 
of financial position. Financial instruments are 
initially recognised when the company becomes 
party to the contractual terms of the instruments 
and are measured at cost, which is the fair value 
of the consideration given (financial asset) or 
received (financial liability or equity instrument) 
for it. 

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments are 
classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangement on initial recognition. 
Subsequent to initial recognition these 
instruments are measured as set out below.

 Fair value methods and assumptions
 The fair value of financial instruments traded in 

an organised financial market are measured at 
the applicable quoted prices, adjusted for any 
transaction costs necessary to realise the assets or 
settle the liabilities.

 The fair value of financial instruments not traded 
in an organised financial market, is determined 
using a variety of methods and assumptions 
that are based on market conditions and risk 
existing at reporting date, including independent 
appraisals and discounted cash flow methods. 

 The fair value determined is adjusted for any 
transaction costs necessary to realise the assets or 
settle the liabilities.

 The carrying values of financial assets and 
liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are 

assumed to approximate their fair values due to 
the short-term trading cycle of these items.

 Derecognition
 Financial assets (or a portion thereof ) are 

derecognised when the company realises the 
rights to the benefits specified in the contract, 
the rights expire or the company surrenders 
or otherwise loses control of the contractual 
rights that comprise the financial asset. On 
derecognition, the difference between the 
carrying value of the financial asset and proceeds 
receivable and any prior adjustment to reflect 
fair value that had been reported in equity are 
included in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

 Financial liabilities (or a portion thereof ) are 
derecognised when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
On derecognition, the difference between the 
carrying value of the financial liability, including 
related unamortised costs, and amount paid for it 
are included in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

 Gains and losses on subsequent measurement
 Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair 

value of financial instruments that are not part 
of a hedging relationship are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the period 
in which the change arises.

 Offset
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount reported in the statement 
of financial position when the company has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts, and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

 Financial assets
 Financial assets are comprised of ‘loans and 

receivables’.

 This classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined 
at the time of initial recognition.

 Effective interest rate method
 The effective interest method is a method of 

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period. Discounting 

from the manner in which the company expects 
to recover the carrying value of its assets and 
liabilities. Deferred taxation is charged or credited 
in the statement of comprehensive income, except 
when it relates to items credited or charged 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred 
taxation is also dealt within equity.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

 Property, plant and equipment (owned 
and leased) are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation is charged so as 
to allocate the cost of assets less their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method. The following useful lives are 
used for the depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment:

 Computer equipment 3 years
 Furniture & fittings 3 to 10 years
 Motor vehicles 5 years
 Leasehold improvement over period of the lease

 All assets are reviewed annually for impairment. 

 Useful lives, depreciation methods and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date. No 
depreciation is charged if the residual values are 
more than the carrying value.

 The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset 
is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

1.6 Impairment

 At each reporting date, the company reviews 
the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of any individual asset, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. Recoverable amount represents 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying value, the carrying value of the 
asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognised as an expense immediately.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 
the carrying value of the asset (cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying value does not exceed the carrying 
value that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised as income 
immediately.

1.7 Leases

 Leases are classified as finance leases where the 
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.

 Assets held under finance leases are capitalised 
as property, plant and equipment, at their cash 
equivalent cost. The corresponding liability is 
included in the statement of financial position as a 
finance lease obligation. The cash equivalent cost 
is the lower of the fair value of the asset and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments at 
inception of the lease.

 Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation, so 
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

 Leases for assets under which the risks and 
benefits of ownership are effectively retained 
by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Obligations incurred under operating leases are 
recognised in the income statement in equal 
instalments over the period of the lease.

1.8 Foreign currencies

 Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted 
for at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of 
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting 
date. Gains and losses arising from the settlement 
of such transactions are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

1.9 Post-employment benefit costs

 The company operates a defined contribution plan, 
the assets of which are generally held in a separate 
trustee-administered fund. The fund is funded by 
payments from employees and the company. The 

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS (continued)
30 April 2011
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2011 2010

 R’000 R’000

2. SporT anD rECrEaTion SoUTh aFriCa

Having seen the allocation of funds from the Department of Sport and Recreation 
South Africa, we are satisfied that the amounts were spent in accordance with 
para 4.11 of the Memorandum of Agreement.

Subsidies received and spent from Sport and Recreation South Africa

Category

Special projects: Women 640 600

The grant from the Department of Sport and Recreation South Africa was 
deposited on 9 March 2011 (2010: 16 February 2010).

All equipment purchased has been expensed.

3. opEraTing proFiT

Operating profit is arrived at after charging the following items:

Auditor’s remuneration 

 current year fees 600 567

 prior year fees 210 –

Depreciation 1 750 548

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 39 29

Allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts (refer note 9) 1 152 2 992

Bad debt written off 752 –

Operating lease charges

 Equipment 155 177

 Premises 627 517

Salary and related employment costs

 Administration and related staff 23 009 22 022

 Players and team management 97 918 42 254

Number of employees

 Administration and related staff 48 49

 Players and team management 30 30

4. FinanCE CoSTS anD inVESTmEnT inComE

Financial institutions (703) –

South African Revenue Service – (120)

Finance costs (703) (120)

Financial institutions 9 201 6 094

Western Province Cricket Association 845 1 732

Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd – 123

Investment income 10 046 7 949

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS (continued)

30 April 2011

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS (continued)
30 April 2011

of a financial asset is performed where the effect 
of discounting is estimated to be material.

 Loans and receivables
 Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables 

that have fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market are classified as 
‘loans and receivables’.

 Trade receivables are stated at their nominal 
value as reduced by appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts.

 Impairment of financial assets
 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of 

impairment at each reporting date. Financial 
assets are impaired where there is objective 
evidence that, as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated cash flows of the 
investment have been impacted. For financial 
assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the 
impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying value and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.

 The carrying value of the financial asset is reduced 
by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of trade receivables 
where the carrying value is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account. When a trade 
receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against 
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account. Changes in the 
carrying value of the allowance account are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed in the statement of comprehensive 
income to the extent that the carrying value of 
the investment at the date the impairment is 

reversed does not exceed what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised.

 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 

deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Classification as debt or equity
 Debt and equity instruments are classified as 

either financial liabilities or equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contract.

 Financial liabilities
 Financial liabilities are comprised of other financial 

liabilities.

 Borrowings
 Interest-bearing loans and overdrafts are recorded 

at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
Finance charges, including premiums payable on 
settlement or redemption, are accounted for on an 
accrual basis and are added to the carrying value 
of the instrument to the extent that they are not 
settled in the period in which they arise. 

 Trade and other payables 
 Trade and other payables are stated at their 

nominal value.

 Equity instruments
 An equity instrument is any contract that 

evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

1.13 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised as a present 
constructive obligation when, as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made. 
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Computer Furniture & Leasehold Motor

equipment fittings improvement vehicles^ Total

2011 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

6. propErTY, pLanT anD 
EQUipmEnT

Cost

At beginning of the year 863 171 4 826 – 5 860

Additions 593 34 754 22 456 23 837

Disposals (136) – – –  (136)

At end of the year 1 320 205 5 580 22 456 29 561

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of the year 428 95 2 428 – 2 951

Current year depreciation 306 38 283 1 123 1 750

Disposals (97) – – – (97)

At end of the year 637 133 2 711 1 123 4 604

Carrying value – 2011 683 72 2 869 21 333 24 957

Cost

At beginning of the year 628 130 3 482 – 4 240

Additions 376 69 1 344 – 1 789

Disposals (141) (28) – – (169)

At end of the year 863 171 4 826 – 5 860

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of the year 249 72 2 189 – 2 510

Current year depreciation 268 41 239 – 548

Disposals (89) (18) – – (107)

At end of the year 428 95 2 428 – 2 951

Carrying value – 2010 435 76 2 398 – 2 909

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

7. DEFErrED TaXaTion  

The movement in the deferred tax is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year 2 889 2 602

Income statement (charge) credit (2 889) 287

Balance at the end of the year – 2 889

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS (continued)

30 April 2011

^  Motor vehicles are encumbered (refer note 8.6)

2011 2010

 R’000 R’000

5. TaXaTion CrEDiT (ChargE)

South African normal taxation

Current taxation – current year – (50 619)

Current taxation – prior year 50 619 (22)

Deferred taxation – current year – 287

Deferred taxation – prior year (2 889) –

47 730 (50 354)

Reconciliation of rate of taxation % %

Taxation at standard rate 28,00 28,00

S11E and 24E (28,00)    –

Permanent differences – 8,36

Prior year (19,16) 0,02

Effective rate of taxation (19,16) 36,38

During the 2008 financial year, Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd (“professional”) and 
the United Cricket Board of South Africa (“amateur/development”) amalgamated 
its operations into a single association incorporated under Section 21 – Cricket 
South Africa (Association incorporated under section 21).

Cricket South Africa (Association incorporated under section 21)’s income 
fluctuates widely from year to year due to tournaments and other events which 
occur in cycles or infrequently. 

In terms of section 11E of the South African Income Tax Act (“the Act”), a special 
deduction is available to Cricket South Africa (Association incorporated under 
section 21).

Cricket South Africa (Association incorporated under section 21) may deduct from 
its income all qualifying expenditure, not of a capital nature, incurred by it on the 
development and promotion of qualifying amateur sport falling under the same 
code of sport as the professional sport it carries on.

In addition, in terms of section 24E of the Act, Cricket South Africa (Association 
incorporated under section 21) may lawfully move current income to the 
future. Where Cricket South Africa (Association incorporated under section 21) 
receives revenue “spikes” when a sports event is held in a particular financial year 
and relatively low revenue in subsequent financial years, Cricket South Africa 
(Association incorporated under Association incorporated under Section 21) defer 
the excess income from the “spikes” out over future years, so as to smooth out the 
revenue. 

Sections 11E and 24E of the Act were enacted in November 2010 and applied 
retrospectively from 1 January 2008. Income tax liabilities arising from excess 
income over expenditure which may be deferred in terms of s11E and s24E from 
the prior period was thus reversed into income in the current year.

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS (continued)
30 April 2011
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2011 2011 2010 2010

Nominal Fair Nominal Fair

value value value value

R R R R

8. LoanS anD aDVanCES (continued)

8.2 wESTErn proVinCE CriCKET aSSoCiaTion 
(continued)

The maturity profile of the loan based on the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows (nominal 
value) and the corresponding discounted values 
(fair value) at year end is summarised below: 

Less than 1 year 2 900 2 193 2 900 2 175

Between 1 and 5 years 9 275 7 508 10 175 8 162

After 5 years 6 593 4 799 8 593 6 218

18 768 14 500 21 668 16 555

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

8.3 2009 iCC ChampionS TrophY (SoUTh aFriCa) – 2 120

During the 2009/10 cricket season, the company carried the administrative 
function for the 2009 ICC Champions Trophy held in South Africa. The amount 
outstanding was effectively receivable from the ICC. The amount outstanding was 
interest free and unsecured.

8.4 2009 inDian prEmiEr LEagUE (SoUTh aFriCa) – 9 838

During the 2009/10 and 2008/09 cricket seasons, the company carried the 
administrative function for the 2009 Indian Premier League held in South Africa. 
The amount outstanding was effectively receivable from the Indian Premier 
League. The amount outstanding was interest free and unsecured.

8.5 2010 ChampionS LEagUE T20 (SoUTh aFriCa)

Amount receivable 8 388 –

Amount payable (16 404) –

During the 2010/11 cricket seasons, the company carried the administrative 
function for the 2010 Champions League T20 event held in South Africa. The 
amounts outstanding are effectively receivable from (payable to) the Champions 
League T20. The amounts outstanding are interest free and unsecured.

8.6 oThEr FinanCiaL LiaBiLiTY

Instalment sale agreement – Standard Bank 19 296 –

Current portion included under current liabilities (16 434) –

Non-current portion 2 862 –

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS (continued)

30 April 2011

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

7. DEFErrED TaXaTion (continued)

Analysis of deferred taxation by type of temporary difference:

Provisions – 850

Fair value adjustment on loan – 1 432

Prepaid expenses – (21)

Allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts – 628

– 2 889

8. LoanS anD aDVanCES

8.1 CEnTraL CriCKET FranChiSE (pTY) LTD

Balance at the beginning of the year 1 344 1 720

Interest accrued – 123

Repayment (1 191) (499)

Write-off (153) –

Balance at the end of the year – 1 344

Consisting of:

Non-current portion of the loan – 978

Current portion of the loan – 366

Balance at the end of the year – 1 344

The loan was unsecured and bore interest at 8% per annum, repayable by way of 
monthly instalments with the final instalment in August 2013. The loan was early 
settled in the current year together with a write-off.

8.2 wESTErn proVinCE CriCKET aSSoCiaTion

Balance at the beginning of the year 21 668 25 317

Interest accrued – 1 732

Repayment (2 900) (5 381)

Balance at the end of the year 18 768 21 668

This loan arose out of a decision to support the Western Province Cricket 
Association (“WPCA”) in the purchase of the Newlands cricket ground.

The balance of the loan and interest accrued at 30 April 2010 was converted to an 
interest free loan on that date. The loan is repayable by instalments over 10 years 
according to an agreed payment plan (last payment date being 30 April 2020). 
The loan is secured over the stadium property as a second security. The fair value 
of the loan has been discounted at an average discount rate of 6% per annum 
(average return on funds invested on the money market). 

Nominal value 18 768 21 668

Fair value adjustment on loan (4 268) (5 113)

Fair value 14 500 16 555

Consisting of:

Non-current portion of the loan 12 307 14 380

Current portion of the loan 2 193 2 175

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS (continued)
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

9. TraDE anD oThEr rECEiVaBLES (continued)

Included in the company’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying 
value of R34.5 million (2010: R3.0 million) which are past due at the reporting date 
for which the company has not provided as there has not been any significant 
change in credit quality and the amou nts are still considered recoverable. The 
company does not hold any collateral over these balances. Subsequent to year 
end, a significant portion of the trade receivables balance has been received.

Ageing of past due, but not impaired

61 – 90 days 13 110 2 699

91 – 120 days 13 110 146

Over 120 days 8 255 118

34 475 2 963

The credit terms of the above past due trade receivables have not been 
renegotiated.

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

Over 120 days 1 152 –

Process for accepting new customers

Applications are assessed individually and are linked to aspects of cricket 
business, being either related parties or generally blue chip commercial partners. 
The trade receivables balance at year end is not insured.

Allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts

Trade receivables are assessed for impairment on an individual basis. Objective 
evidence of impairment for trade receivables include the company’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed 
payments in trade receivables past the average trade receivables days of 60 days,  
as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with default receivables. 

Sundry receivables

Included in the company’s prior year receivables was the amount of R1 775 174 
made up as follows:

Gross bonuses paid to Cricket South Africa employees – 4 767

Less: allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts – (2 992)

– 1 775

The gross bonuses paid are made up as follows:

India Premier League – 2 727

ICC Champions Trophy – 2 040

– 4 767

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

8.6 oThEr FinanCiaL LiaBiLiTY (continued)

The instalment sale agreement from Standard Bank is payable in monthly instalments 
of R1 435 621 over a period of 14 months, bearing interest at the prime lending rate 
less 1%. The liability is secured by motor vehicles with a carrying value of R21 333 335.

A maturity profile of the liability has not been disclosed as the long term portion 
represents two monthly instalments ending on 30 June 2012.

9. TraDE anD oThEr rECEiVaBLES

Trade receivables 149 229 58 496

Player loans – 10

Prepayment 154 75

Interest on call accounts 62 499

Sundry receivables – 4 767

Allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts (1 152) (2 992)

148 293 60 855

Total trade receivables (gross of allowances) held by the company as at  
30 April 2011 amounted to R149.2 million (2010: R58.5 million). The average 
trade receivables days is 60 days (2010: 60 days). No interest is charged on trade 
receivables.

Included in the company’s total trade receivables balance are accounts receivable 
with the following carrying values:

  Customer 1 38 556 37 910

Customer 2 26 220 –

Customer 3 62 844 –

Customer 4 11 829 14 993

139 449 52 903

Percentage of total trade receivables 93% 90%

There are no other customers (current or prior year) who represent more than 5% 
of the total trade receivables balance.

Included in the company’s total trade receivables balance are the following 
foreign currency receivables:

FC*’000 FC*’000

USD 13 246 70

r’000 r’000

At the reporting date, the company’s trade receivable balance is disaggregated 
into the following product/service classes:

Sponsorships 40 486 40 321

Broadcasting 26 220 43

Gate revenue – 291

Other incomeΩ 82 523 17 841

149 229 58 496

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
noTES To ThE annUaL FinanCiaL STaTEmEnTS (continued)
30 April 2011
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

12. TraDE anD oThEr paYaBLES

Balance includes the following:

Trade payables 8 170 9 713

Accruals 62 561 25 946

Income received in advance 19 319 34 165

90 050 69 824

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days. 
No interest is charged on trade payables. The company has financial risk 
management in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit period.

13. riSK proFiLE

The company is not exposed to external debt. The company manages its capital (net debt) to ensure it will be able 
to continue as a going concern.

Interest rate and liquidity risk

The company generally adopts a policy of ensuring that its exposure to changes in interest rates is on a floating 
rate basis. The company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows. Short-term working capital 
requirements are funded from operational cash flows.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates as at the reporting date. 
A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest 
rates. If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the company’s 
profit for the year ended 30 April 2011 would increase by R4.8 million (2010: profit for the year would increase by 
R2.9 million).

Foreign currency risk

The company is exposed to foreign currency risk on the amounts received, mainly from sponsors and broadcasters. 
The Financial and Commercial Committee reviews the company’s foreign cash flows regularly.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the company’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Rand against other 
foreign currencies that it is exposed to. The 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The 
sensitivity analysis includes foreign currency denominated revenue items and adjusts their translation during the 
year for a 10% change in foreign currency rates (all foreign currencies where denominated in US dollars).

Rand

Weakening of rand against foreign currencies by 10 % – Profit 30 769 746

Strengthening of rand against foreign currencies by 10% – Loss (30 769 746)

The above effect is mainly attributable to the exposure of the company to receipts from international television 
rights.

Credit risk management

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade and other receivables and short term cash 
investments. At the year end, the company considers that there were no significant concentrations of credit risk 
against which adequate provision has not been made.

Fair values of financial instruments

At 30 April 2011 the carrying values of cash and short-term deposits, accounts receivable and accounts payable 
approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

 

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

9. TraDE anD oThEr rECEiVaBLES (continued)

The bonuses included amounts paid to an executive director of Cricket South 
Africa amounting to R1 775 174 and to an officer of the company of R1 447 985.

The bonuses set out above were paid directly to the employees of Cricket South 
Africa by the Indian Premier League and the ICC. The existence of the bonuses 
was deemed not to have been disclosed to the relevant structures within Cricket 
South African at the appropriate time. The payments from the Indian Premier 
League and ICC in respect of the bonuses was thus accrued to Cricket South Africa 
in the prior year pending the results of an independent internal review committee 
(“Khan Commission”) appointed by the Cricket South Africa board of directors. 

Based on the findings and recommendations of the Khan Commission in the 
current year, the bonuses were ratified. The amounts receivable in the prior year 
was therefore expensed subsequent to the completion of the review by the Khan 
Commission.

10. CaSh anD CaSh EQUiVaLEnTS

Call deposits 429 018 290 800

Bank balance and cash 67 610 4 004

496 628 294 804

Per category

Loans and receivables 496 628 294 804

Per currency

South African Rand 271 843 79 411

Foreign currencies (ZAR equivalent) 224 785 215 393

496 628 294 804

There are no reserving restrictions on cash balances at year end. All cash balances 
at year end are available for use by Cricket South Africa. All foreign currencies at 
year end were denominated in US dollars.

11. proViSion

Provision for litigation

Opening balance 2 650 –

Amount raised during the year – 2 650

Amount used during the year (150) –

Amounts reversed during the year (2 000) –

Closing balance 500 2 650

The provision relates to legal matters that have arisen during the current year. The 
provision relates to the maximum outflow of economic benefit from the company.

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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14. rELaTED parTY TranSaCTionS

 Trading transactions

 Transactions between related parties during the year were at arm’s length. During the year the company entered into 
the following transactions with related parties:

Amount Amount Amount Amount

included in included included in included in

revenue in expenses trade and trade and

other other

receivables payables

Description R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2011

Jumbos Cricket (Pty) Limited PS 436 286 – –

Titans Cricket (Pty) Limited PS 2 133 1 152 – –

Western Province (Pty) Limited PS – 1 – –

Central Cricket Franchise BFN (Pty) Ltd F – 10 851 – 283

Cricket Eastern Cape (Pty) Limited F – 18 800 418 315

Eastern Titans (Pty) Limited F – 10 786 – 248

KZN (Pty) Limited F – 9 911 – 315

New Heights Cricket (Pty) Limited F – 13 573 – 313

Western Cape Cricket (Pty) Limited F – 11 389 – 230

Boland Cricket Union A 21 8 847 61 –

Border Cricket (s21) A 21 8 196 56 –

Eastern Cricket (s21) A 21 7 149 1 –

Eastern Province Cricket Board A 21 8 215 1 –

Free State Cricket Union A 21 9 571 1 –

Gauteng Cricket Board (s21) A 2 171 9 655 1 –

Griqua Diamonds (s21) A 21 8 906 1 –

KwaZulu-Natal Cricket Union A 5 648 10 827 8 26

Northerns Cricket Union A 40 11 482 1 –

North West Cricket (s21) A 21 10 811 1 –

Western Province Cricket Association A 3 628 9 280 1 –

KwaZulu-Natal Inland Cricket Union AM 20 4 728 – 26

Mpumalanga Cricket Union AM 20 3 134 – –

South West Districts Cricket Board AM 20 4 678 – –

Kei Cricket Board – 1 470 – –

Totals 14 263 193 698 551 1 756

2010

Border Bears (Pty) Limited PS – 2 241 – –

Griqua Diamonds (Pty) Limited PS – 580 – –

Jumbos Cricket (Pty) Limited PS 879 5 187 – –

North West Dragons (Pty) Limited PS – 826 – –

Titans Cricket (Pty) Limited PS 1 943 9 578 – 686

Central Cricket Franchise BFN (Pty) Ltd F – 10 652 1 344 –

Cricket Eastern Cape (Pty) Limited F 405 8 840 – –

Eastern Titans (Pty) Limited F 206 7 889 70 –

KZN (Pty) Limited F 112 7 771 – –

New Heights Cricket (Pty) Limited F 227 7566 – –

Western Cape Cricket (Pty) Limited F 183 12 356 – –

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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13. riSK proFiLE (continued)

 All financial instruments are carried at fair value or amounts that approximate fair value, except for the non-current 
portion of fixed rate receivables (Western Province Cricket Association loan), which is carried at amortised cost. 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents as well as the  current portion of loans and other receivables 
and payables approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair values have been 
determined using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies.  

   
 The carrying value and fair value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities as at 30 April 2011 are stated below:

Carrying Fair 

value value

R’000 R’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 496 628 496 628

Trade and other receivables 148 293 148 293

Loans receivable 27 155 22 888

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 90 050 90 050

Loans payable 16 404 16 404

Other financial liabilities 19 296 19 296

The carrying value and fair value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities 
as at 30 April 2010 are stated below:

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 294 804 294 804

Trade and other receivables 60 855 60 855

Loans receivable 34 970 29 857

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 69 824 69 824

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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2011 2010

R’000 R’000

Remuneration for services as non-executive directors

Meeting fees 423 42

Honoraria 782 494

1 205 536

15. rETirEmEnT BEnEFiT inFormaTion

Retirement benefits are provided for employees by means of a provident fund to which the company contributes. 
The fund is governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. All employees contribute to the fund.

The fund in operation at 30 April 2011 was the Destiny Umbrella Fund administered by GIB Financial Services  
(Pty) Ltd. These are defined contribution plans where the retirement benefits are determined with reference to the 
employee’s contributions. No actuarial valuations are required.

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

Provident fund contributions by the employer 2 660 2 429

16. KEY aSSUmpTionS ConCErning ThE FUTUrE anD KEY SoUrCES oF ESTimaTion UnCErTainTY

As required to be disclosed in terms of AC101 – Presentation of Financial Statements, there are no significant 
assumptions made concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying values of assets and liabilities within the next financial period.

17. CriTiCaL JUDgEmEnTS in appLYing aCCoUnTing poLiCiES

In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, management is required to make estimates, judgements 
and assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that is not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Deferred taxation assets

Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available in 
future against which the deferred taxation assets can be utilised. The future availability of taxable profits is based 
on management’s judgments regarding future business plans.

Asset lives and residual values

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their expected useful lives. Residual 
values and asset lives are assessed annually based on management’s judgment of relevant factors and conditions.

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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Amount Amount Amount Amount

included in included included in included in

revenue in expenses trade and trade and

other other

receivables payables

Description R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

14. rELaTED parTY TranSaCTionS (continued)

2010 Entity (continued)

Boland Cricket Union A 167 8 780 – –

Border Cricket Board A 175 7 852 – –

Eastern Cricket Board A 114 9 310 – –

Eastern Province Cricket Board A 116 7 940 – –

Free State Cricket Union A 135 10 136 – 46

Gauteng Strikers s21 A 3 920 24 969 220 –

Griqualand West Cricket Board A 89 8 577 – –

KwaZulu-Natal Cricket Union A 2 030 14 691 – –

Northerns Cricket Union A 192 10 334 1 –

North West Cricket Union A 90 7 542 – –

Western Province Cricket Association A 4 083 14 738 16 555 –

KwaZulu-Natal Inland Cricket Union AM 115 3 738 – –

Mpumalanga Cricket Union AM 66 1 789 – –

South West Districts Cricket Board AM 105 3 871 – –

Totals 15 352 207 753 18 190 732

 # The abbreviations represent the following:
 A – Affiliate
 F – Franchise
 AM – Associate member
 PS – Professional stadium

No expense has been recognised in the period for bad debts or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by 
related parties as all amounts are recoverable in full.

Details of the related party loans have been disclosed in note 8. The amounts below have been approved by the 
remuneration committee and the board and exclude the bonuses paid by the Indian Premier League and the ICC in 
the prior year.

All remuneration, including that of management and staff, is reviewed and approved by the Remuneration 
Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

2011 2010

Compensation of key management personnel R’000 R’000

Remuneration for services as executive director

Salary 1 832 1 697

Bonus – CSA 1 417 1 244

Bonus – India Premier League 1 131 –

Bonus – ICC Champions Trophy 644 –

Retirement and medical contributions 293 230

5 317 3 171

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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21. ChangES in aCCoUnTing STanDarDS

At the date of the authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were in 
issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards 
–  Amendments resulting from May 2010 Annual 

Improvements to IFRSs

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards 
–  Replacement of fixed dates for certain 

exemptions with the date of transition to IFRS

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards 
–  Additional exemption for entities ceasing to 

suffer from severe hyperinflation

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

IFRS 3 Business combinations 
–  Amendments resulting from May 2010  

Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments 
–  Amendments resulting from May 2010  

Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments 
– Disclosures about transfer of financial assets

Annual periods beginning on or after 5 July 2011

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
– Classification and measurement

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
–  Amendments resulting from May 2010  

Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

IAS 12 Income Taxes 
–  Limited scope amendment (recovery of underlying 

assets)

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 
– Revised definition of related parties

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
–  Amendments resulting from May 2010  

Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

None of the standards and interpretations that have been published, but not yet effective, are expected to have a 
significant financial impact on the amounts recorded in the financial statements.

22. poST rEporTing DaTE EVEnTS

No events have occurred between the financial year end and the date of this report that materially affect the 
financial position of the company. 

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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17. CriTiCaL JUDgEmEnTS in appLYing aCCoUnTing poLiCiES (continued)

Other estimates made

The company also makes estimates for:

 the calculation of the allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts;

 the calculation of any provision for claims, litigation and other legal matters;

 the calculation of any other provisions;

 the calculation of the fair value of financial instruments; and

 the assessment of impairments and the calculation of the recoverable amounts of assets.

18. CommiTmEnTS anD ConTingEnCiES

Management of the company are not aware of any contingent liabilities and commitments at year end other than 
the operating lease commitment disclosed in note 19.

2011 2010

R’000 R’000

19. opEraTing LEaSE CommiTmEnTS

Minimum lease payments under operating leases for equipment 
recognised as an expense in the year.

170 177

Minimum lease payments under operating leases for premises 
recognised as an expense in the year

627 517

797 694

At the reporting date outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating 
equipment leases to external parties, which fall due, are as follows:

Within one year 102 139

Between one and five years – 128

102 267

At the reporting date outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating 
premises leases to external parties, which fall due, are as follows:

Within one year 658 625

Between one and five years 3 787 3 607

Over five years 1 949 2 607

6 394 6 839

20. STaTEmEnT oF oThEr ComprEhEnSiVE inComE

No statement of other comprehensive income has been prepared as the company had no transactions in the 
current and prior year that had an impact on the statement of comprehensive income.

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (Section 21) 
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Potchefstroom Boys High School and after completing 
grade 12, assisted with North West development 
coaching. 

DIRK DE VOS SNR.

Dirk de Vos, a great pioneer of cricket in the North West 
and Western Transvaal, served on the Western Transvaal 
Cricket Board in the early 1980’s and was a Provincial 
selector during that time.

JOHN CORBETT 

Ex Northern Transvaal Player.

TREVOR CHESTERFIELD

Ex Pretoria News Cricket writer.

JOHN WAITE 

John Waite was one of the outstanding wicketkeeper-
batsmen in world cricket of his generation, and died in 
Johannesburg at the age of 81.

He was the first South African to play 50 Test matches 
and, in fact, only missed five matches for his country 
from the time of his debut against England at Trent 
Bridge in 1951 to his final appearance against the same 
opponents at St. George’s Park in 1965. 

His full first-class career ran from 1948 when he made 
his debut for Eastern Province as a student at Rhodes 
University until 1966.

JOHN MARTIN 

Minnie Martin’s beloved husband, well known to 
everyone and a true part of the cricket family passed 
away suddenly after suffering a heart attack.

PIERRE DURRELL 

Gauteng Umpire.

LUKE FAIRWEATHER 

Luke Fairweather was an official at the Alma Marist 
Cricket Club in the Western Cape and managed the 
Western Province provincial team.

PROFESSOR KADER ASMAL

Kader Asmal passed away after suffering a heart attack. 
He had a passionate love for sport and particularly 
for cricket. He served on the national executive of the 
South African Non-Racial Olympic Committee (Sanroc) 
and, in spite of his commitments to the Government 
from 1994 onwards as a senior Cabinet Minister, he did 
a lot of significant work for cricket. 

Professor Asmal was also a qualified umpire and one of 
his major concerns was to strengthen amateur cricket 
at all levels as he felt that the professional game could 
never get strong without a sound amateur structure 
behind it as well.

VERNIE PETERSEN 

Director General of Sport and Recreation South Africa 
(SRSA).

AHMED GABRU

Former Transvaal opening batsman Ahmed (Ahmedy) 
Gabru passed away on 22nd July 2011. Gabru was 
known for his swashbuckling batting as a youngster and 
went on to represent Western Transvaal and Transvaal 
in the early seventies. Ahmedy is best remembered for 
his part in a SACBOC era 2nd wicket record of 273 with 
Ismail ‘Morris’ Garda against Natal in 1971/72.
 

WALTER CHALMERS

Former Border cricketer Walter Rochfort “Wally” 
Chalmers passed away in Cape Town at the age of 76. 
Chalmers was a left-handed batsman and slow left-arm 
bowler, who, according to team-mate Robin Thorne, 
possessed a loop, fine flight, spun the ball well and had 
a very good arm ball. Chalmers was educated at Dale 
College in King William’s Town and was selected for the 
Border Schools team in 1951 and gained selection for 
the SA Nuffield team at the end of the tournament.

Cricket South Africa (CSA) extends its condolences to 
those in the cricket family who have lost loved ones 
since the last Annual General meeting.

HERBERT ROY (TIGER) LANCE

Herbert Roy “Tiger” Lance (70) was an outstanding 
all-rounder for his then province, Transvaal, and as a 
member of the team that white-washed the Australians 
in 1970.

He was a powerful cricketer with a powerful personality 
and was a legend in his own life-time. He was also a 
first-class hockey and football player.

Tiger was always a most valued VIP guest in CSA’s 
Presidential Suite at the Wanderers during international 
matches in recent times.

He played 13 Tests against New Zealand, England and 
Australia between 1961 and 1970, scoring 5 half-
centuries along the way. Tiger was also a useful seam 
bowler and one of many outstanding fielders produced 
by South Africa in this period.

On the soccer field he represented Mayfair Rangers as a 
full-back in South Africa’s first professional league. 

JANNIE MOMBERG

Jannie Momberg was a former ANC MP and South 
African Ambassador to Greece and a true South African 
giant that fell.
 
He bestrode the South African scene like a colossus for 
decades in the worlds of farming, sport administration, 
politics and international diplomacy.
 
He broke racial barriers and stereotypes and helped 
replace them with reconciliation and development 
across the national spectrum. South African cricket was 
particularly blessed by his presence through his love 
of the game, wisdom, advice and through two of his 
children, Niels and Altus.
 
RAYMOND UREN

Raymond Uren was a former board member and former 
President of the Eastern Province Cricket Association.

He was one of the pioneers of the struggle against 
discrimination in sport from the days when he was a 
very active member of SACOS and chair of the Eastern 
Province Council of Sport.

He inspired many with his commitment to bring about 
the downfall of apartheid in sport, and then threw 
himself wholeheartedly into developing sport among 
the youth in a democratic society.

CSA was most fortunate that he devoted his later years 
to the administration of cricket in the Eastern Cape, in 
particular, as well as nationally. 

Mr Uren became a highly respected member of 
the board of CSA, and was a very successful and 
inspirational chair of CSA’s Development Committee. 
His vast experience as an educator and a guardian 
against discrimination in sport added exceptional value 
to the CSA and EPCA boards.

ASHTON DUNJWA

Ashton Dunjwa was a former South African African 
Cricket Board (SAACB) administrator and devoted a lot 
of his life to cricket.

He was based in Cape Town during his administrative 
career, became a member of the SAACB executive in 
1969 and was it’s president in 1976 when it formed an 
alliance with the South African Cricket Association and 
a splinter group of the South African Cricket Board of 
Control to form the South African Cricket Union.

During his administrative career the SAACB started 
the John Passmore Week for high schools at provincial 
level with the select Passmore XI going on to play at the 
Nuffield Week. He also managed the African team that 
toured Zimbabwe in the early 1970s.

Cricket South Africa mourns the passing of a man who 
devoted a lot of his life to cricket and salutes him for his 
contribution to our great game

CARL RUSHDI BRANDT

Club member/player of NMMU (George Campus Cricket 
Club) SWD

MARSHALL JANSEN

Administrator – Served on various Local Organising 
Committee’s for the presentation of CSA tournaments. 

GLADWIN LEBALLO

Gladwin Leballo played in all the various provincial 
junior teams and represented North West at the Coca-
Cola Khaya Majola U-19 week in 2003. He attended 
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